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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Good morning.  I

          3  am Council Member Helen Diane Foster, Chair of the

          4  Parks Committee.  We are going to start this

          5  hearing. I want to from the outset just set up a

          6  couple of rules.  We have more than 30 people signed

          7  up to speak, so what we're going to do is give

          8  everyone two minutes to speak.  I'm asking you

          9  please to respect the time, so that we can allow

         10  everyone to be heard.

         11                 This morning we are doing this a

         12  little differently.  We have spoken to our  --  or I

         13  have spoken to, and Council Member Melissa

         14  Mark-Viverito, who joins me, to my left, from

         15  Manhattan, and Council Member Bob Jackson, who is at

         16  my right, from Manhattan,  --  Melissa and I have

         17  both spoken to Commissioner Benepe.  What is

         18  happening today is going to be the public's chance

         19  to give their thoughts, opinions, express outrage,

         20  or appreciation, whatever it is, about what we know

         21  about this Randall's Island deal.

         22                 The Administration and the Parks

         23  Department will not be here this morning to testify.

         24  It is still in the negotiation stages.  What that

         25  means is that nothing is finalized, and we have the
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          2  possibility  --  and I know there have been some

          3  concerns as to what's happening, and we don't know

          4  all the facts.  We are going to work and make sure

          5  to negotiate a deal that's a win/win situation for

          6  everyone.

          7                 That being said, it's important that

          8  we hear from the public.  So this portion of the

          9  meeting will be incorporated into the record when we

         10  hold the next meeting, where the Administration will

         11  testify as to the exact details of the agreement

         12  that will be reached.  And as I said, there are many

         13  elected officials and community folks working on

         14  this.

         15                 And before we get started, I'm going

         16  to ask Council Member Melissa Mark-Viverito to give

         17  a opening statement and give us her thoughts and

         18  then we're going to get right into the testimony.

         19  We have a clock, two minutes.  I am going to ask

         20  respectfully, that you adhere to the two minutes,

         21  and when two minutes is up and I stop you, please

         22  wrap up.  Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO: Thank

         24  you, Madam Chair, and I want to thank everyone that

         25  has come here today to express their opinion on this
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          2  matter.  And I particularly want to thank Helen

          3  Foster, my colleague, and also Speaker Christine

          4  Quinn, for allowing us this opportunity.

          5                 And I do want to say that the fact

          6  that we are having this meeting is something I think

          7  that we should be happy about.  I know that there

          8  have been conversations going on with the

          9  Administration that I have been a part of, that the

         10  Borough President and the Comptroller, who both sit

         11  on the Franchise Review Committee, have been having

         12  with the Administration and there is I think, a

         13  willingness there to re-look and revisit this plan.

         14  And I think that that is clearly to be, at that

         15  point, is a victory for the community, and I think

         16  that I personally want to express that as the

         17  representative for District Eight.

         18                 The issue that we're discussing here

         19  today is an issue that is not only relevant to

         20  District Eight, I think the general concern with

         21  regards to the parks in the City of New York, and

         22  for this process of concessions and the granting of

         23  concessions and the greater implications of that

         24  process, I think is really important, and Randall's

         25  Island, in this particular case, is just one example
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          2  of that greater debate.

          3                 And we have a responsibility  --  I

          4  have a responsibility  --  to be a strong advocate

          5  from our community, and to represent all those who

          6  reside within District Eight.  And I have a greater

          7  responsibility also to the City of New York.

          8                 So I just want to thank you all for

          9  being here, for expressing opinions on both sides of

         10  the spectrum, and we look forward to be able to

         11  further engage in this debate in the ongoing months,

         12  and possibly years.  So with that, Madam Chair,

         13  thank you very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.  We're

         15  going to  --  we have them in panels of four.  We've

         16  divided them as best we could. So if you're sitting

         17  next to someone you don't like, suck it up for

         18  today.  Our first panel is Robert Jereski, Ben

         19  Resto, Joel Rivera, and Lou Schlanger.

         20                 Good morning.  You can start in

         21  whatever order, left to right, right to left.

         22                 MR. JERESKI: Thanks for holding these

         23  hearings.  My name is Robert Jereski, and I'm an

         24  alumni of the St. Bernards School, a private boys

         25  school on the Upper East Side, which has made the
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          2  unfortunate decision to consider taking part in the

          3  public lands long- term lease scheme.  I enjoyed

          4  Randall's Island ball fields as a participant in

          5  sports programs at that school about 20 years ago,

          6  and continue to enjoy the Island's fields and

          7  riverfront today.

          8                 As St. Bernards website notes,

          9   "service to our community is an important and

         10  popular aspect of school life.".  I'm certain that

         11  each of these private schools participating in what

         12  has been for months, secretive negotiations with the

         13  City Parks Department and the Randall's Island

         14  Sports Foundation, the secretive public/private

         15  partnership which manages the Island, has a similar

         16  mission to cultivate an ethical young student into

         17  an ethical and well- rounded citizen of our City and

         18  our world.

         19                 It is critical that you understand

         20  the scheme for ball fields leasing to privileged

         21  schools, that that scheme is tied to the scheme to

         22  build a private water theme park on the Island. Both

         23  of these schemes have been presented to the public

         24  as fait accompli by the Randall's Island Sports

         25  Foundation and Parks Department.
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          2                 The 26 acres of parkland which would

          3  be alienated by the water park currently hold ten

          4  ball fields.  Although Randall's Island Sports

          5  Foundation is promising more, if more compressed

          6  ball fields, as a result of the water park scheme,

          7  the expanding needs of the City for even greater

          8  access to public parks and fields would be better

          9  met without the theme park.  So there's a direct

         10  relationship between the water park and the leased

         11  scheme.

         12                 I am very disappointed to learn that

         13  St. Bernard's School is one of the 20 schools which

         14  has been negotiating to lease public park land from

         15  the City.  I cherish my experience at St. Bernards.

         16  My past and ongoing friendships cultivated there.

         17  My memories, and even my thoughts concerning my

         18  future son to study where I did for nine years.

         19                 Perhaps it's a mark of the times that

         20  the Board of Trustees of important and cherished

         21  private schools of our City are money managers and

         22  bond traders steeped in a world view of

         23  privatization and returns on money invested, while

         24  they represent institutions dedicated to the most

         25  noble public ideals.  Thank you.
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          2                 MR. RESTO: Good morning everyone.  My

          3  name is Ben Resto, and I am the Executive Director

          4  of East Harlem Little League.  East Harlem Little

          5  League, a community- based 501- c organization, is a

          6  William's Boys Little League International Chartered

          7  League located in East Harlem.  We use baseball,

          8  softball, and the power teams to provide inner- City

          9  youth with the opportunity to play, learn, and grow,

         10  inspiring them to recognize their potential and

         11  realize their dreams.

         12                 For the past three years, we have

         13  been using Randall's Island fields to provide games

         14  and practices for our league.  The opportunity to

         15  utilize the Randall Island fields have been very

         16  helpful.  I could even say that it has been crucial

         17  for us, due to the fact of losing our home field in

         18  which we have had 14 years.  Our former field is

         19  located at 112th Street at Madison Ave.  This field

         20  has been designated for building of a museum/art

         21  gallery.  This being said, this problem has, and

         22  will hurt our program immensely, due to shortage of

         23  field time in Manhattan.

         24                 On behalf of the Board of Directors,

         25  volunteers, and most importantly, the players of
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          2  East Harlem Little League, want us to express our

          3  gratitude to Randall's Island Foundation and hope to

          4  continue to use the facilities for our programs.

          5                 We strongly support the new field

          6  project at Randall's Island.  Although I am aware

          7  that the private schools helping to fund this

          8  project will have an 80 percent of the field time,

          9  slotted for three to six, however, I am also well

         10  aware that it is these schools that have grandfather

         11  clauses on this Randall Island field premise, and

         12  therefore have an existing lot on 95 percent of the

         13  fields on the Island.

         14                 So right now, community groups and

         15  public schools are locked out of using 90 percent of

         16  those fields.  Thank you.

         17                 MR. RIVERA: Good morning.  My name is

         18  Joel Ray Rivera.  Not the Councilman.  Not yet at

         19  least.  I'm the Deputy Director of Youth for Real,

         20  the youth program in the Fordham area. We're in ten

         21  sites.  We service over 500 youth.

         22                 Though I do not support the private

         23  schools having 95 percent of the fields and

         24  grandfather clausing that in, that's not what we're

         25  here to discuss.  If we were here to discuss that, I
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          2  wouldn't support that.

          3                 We are here to discuss the Randall's

          4  Island project. And unfortunately, a lot of

          5  decisions are made when it comes to young people and

          6  youth, whether it's the educational system or youth

          7  programs, based on perception, based on opinion, and

          8  not based on reality.  The reality of the situation

          9  is that currently, there is only one field for our

         10  program and youths, and a lot of other programs like

         11  the Little League that was just mentioned.

         12                 Though I do not agree with the new

         13  project of the private schools having the 95

         14  percent, it does open up an opportunity for us to

         15  have another 13 or 14 fields.  So ultimately, it

         16  benefits the youth in the Bronx, and the other

         17  nonprofits to have the opportunity to have more

         18  fields.

         19                 Do we need more fields for nonprofits

         20  in the Bronx and throughout the City?  Yes.  Will

         21  this new project give us that opportunity?  Yes.

         22  Does it mean that more youth in the Bronx and in

         23  urban inner cities will have the opportunity to go

         24  to Randall's Island and use fields?  Yes.  I think

         25  that's all that matters. That this project would
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          2  allow young people  --   and some of the Council

          3  Members know my work in the past  --  have the

          4  ability to use more fields.

          5                 So I do support this project, and

          6  anybody that cares about youth and young people

          7  should also want to support this project, because

          8  though five percent is not a high percent, five

          9  percent is better than no percent.  Thank you.

         10                 MR. SCHLANGER: Hello.  My name is Lou

         11  Schlanger. And I am the Camp Director for the

         12  Randall's Island kids camp as well as the Athletic

         13  Director of South Bronx Campus High School. And I've

         14  been at South Bronx for 25 or 26 years.  And I just

         15  want to refer to a different project that took place

         16  about five years ago.  Take the Field built a bunch

         17  of fields in the City.  There were a lot of nay

         18  sayers about them building fields, because the

         19  community wasn't going to get a lot of the use of

         20  the fields.  They were built primarily for the

         21  schools.  But the fields were built because there

         22  was an agreement for the community to use the

         23  fields. Now the community, who weren't getting the

         24  majority of the time, was finally getting some good

         25  fields to be used.
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          2                 And it's very similar here.  Because

          3  of the grandfather clause, it is what it is.  But

          4  where would we be without Randall's Island Sports

          5  Foundation?  Already.  Let's look at the history.

          6  There would be no Summer camp.  Five thousand plus

          7  kids getting served every year.  There would be no

          8  after- school program where the Randall's Island

          9  Sports Foundation is busing kids to the Island.

         10  These are public school kids.  Already.  There would

         11  be no Ichan Stadium, which is the best outdoor

         12  facility in the country right now.  This is all due

         13  to the Foundation.

         14                 This Summer in camp, we used Ichan

         15  Stadium.  We used the premier soccer field.  Ten

         16  years ago in the camp, we were using dirt fields,

         17  just call them dirt fields, and there was no

         18  markings or anything.  It was very unsafe.  There

         19  would be no bike paths, no walking paths.

         20                 So without the Foundation, we

         21  wouldn't have what we have already.  Their track

         22  record is fantastic.  And they're going to move

         23  ahead and give many more fields to the public

         24  schools than they already have.  And that's really

         25  the bottom line here.
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          2                 If you really care about kids  --

          3  and you're going to get some people that are going

          4  to come up here that say they're part of the

          5  community.  Well, I would like to match up with

          6  them. If being with South Bronx for 25 years  --  I

          7  spend more hours in the South Bronx than I do at

          8  home.  And I feel that I am representing the

          9  community more than some of the people that are

         10  going to come up just to fight and be a nay sayer.

         11                 So I think we need to move ahead to

         12  support our kids.  It's really what it's all about.

         13  The kids.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  What

         15  I'm going to ask is everybody  --  we can say our

         16  opinions without passing judgement on who represents

         17  a community more than another.  We had that with the

         18  Yankee Stadium deal, and people weren't from the

         19  community.  It gets us nowhere.  So just state your

         20  opinion.  We don't live with each other.  We don't

         21  know what someone does or does not do in a specific

         22  community.  Thank you.

         23                 Our next panel will be Leonia

         24  Haimson, Patrick Sullivan, Harry Bubbins, Marina

         25  Ortiz.
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          2                 I'm sorry.  We've been joined by

          3  Council Members Leticia James, from Brooklyn; to my

          4  far left, Joe Addabbo, from Queens; and Council

          5  Member Dennis Gallagher, from Queens.

          6                 MR. SULLIVAN: Hello.  My name is

          7  Patrick Sullivan. I'm the father of two sons in

          8  public school.

          9                 Until I read Patrick Arden's article

         10  on October 11th, I have never been in City Hall, and

         11  I had no experience of activism.  Today, I come

         12  before you as a District Captain for the public

         13  advocacy group, Class Size Matters, and the person

         14  behind the e- mail address

         15  allkidsneedfields@hotmail.com.

         16                 Since I've taken on this cause, I've

         17  received many e- mails and letters.  I've been

         18  copying them on to the Mayor and to the Parks

         19  Commissioner.  Let me read you just one.

         20                  "I'm against the proposed use of

         21  Randall's Island athletic fields to a consortium of

         22  25 prep schools for 30 years. I hate to think this

         23  plan was supported by City Hall, and appalled that

         24  this could ever be a consideration.  I am the mother

         25  of a very bright 13- year old eighth grade boy.  As
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          2  my son and I tour public high schools, this process

          3  is further complicated by the fact that many of the

          4  academically rigorous schools have limited academic

          5  athletic programs, if one exists at all, due to lack

          6  of available facilities.  For a child as active in

          7  athletics as my son, no sports or limited sports can

          8  be a real deal breaker in schools. Please do not

          9  support this contract.  Rather, support the

         10  development of a full range of quality services to

         11  public school education."

         12                 I've seen the response to this and

         13  the defense of the deal from the Parks Department

         14  and the RISF.  Essentially, it's that the greater

         15  good is being served, because so many fields would

         16  be created, so many hours would be created during

         17  the weekends and during the school day.  The problem

         18  I have, and many have, is why do we need to sell out

         19  the needs of the high school children who would use

         20  those fields for athletic programs in the hours

         21  between three and six.  When Central Park was built,

         22  it was too far away for the public to use.

         23  Everybody knew that.  But the people who built that

         24  park had a vision that this great City would need a

         25  great park.  Today, we don't have people of such
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          2  vision and leadership.  We have small people who

          3  would sell out the most prime access to this park to

          4  build something that  --  for the public.

          5                 We an build this park and build these

          6  fields, and give equal access to all public school

          7  children.

          8                 MS. HAIMSON: Hello.  My name is

          9  Leonie Haimson.  I'm the Executive Director of Class

         10  Size Matters, an advocacy group with more than 2,000

         11  parents and subscribers from throughout the City.

         12  I'm also speaking today as a mother with one child

         13  in a public school, and one child in a private

         14  school, one of the schools that will be given

         15  exclusive access through this deal.  I'm ashamed

         16  that the City would ever countenance such a deal,

         17  and I hope that you do everything in your power to

         18  reject it.

         19                 While the City intends to put up $70

         20  million to renovate these fields, and at least 80

         21  percent of them during after- school hours to a set

         22  of 20 private schools, public school children from

         23  all the surrounding boroughs will be limited to

         24  sharing the remaining 20 percent.

         25                 While Parks Department officials
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          2  argue that these fields are currently used primarily

          3  by private schools, what they fail to mention is

          4  this access is up to the discretion of the City on

          5  an annual basis.  Whereas the proposed contract

          6  would lock out our public school children for more

          7  than a generation.  Parks officials also claim that

          8  they serve all New York City children, privately and

          9  publicly schooled alike.  I wish this were true.

         10                 If so, they would grant access to

         11  these fields to the more than 1.1 million public

         12  school children, proportional to their numbers, as

         13  compared to the 700 private school students, who

         14  will use them according to this contract.

         15                 We are now due, as Robert Jackson

         16  knows, to receive a multi- billion dollar windfall

         17  in school aid, as a result of the CFE case.  If the

         18  Department of Education is not prepared at this time

         19  to help public schools pay for the cost of

         20  transportation, but the private schools pay $2.5

         21  million annually to help finance the renovation of

         22  these fields, as a user fee, that they should be

         23  regarded as an annual fee that could be terminated

         24  at any time by the City.

         25            On October 12th, following news reports
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          2  about the contract, parents approached Chancellor

          3  Klein, who was still unaware that it had occurred.

          4  Obviously, no one had even bothered to check with

          5  him to see if he might favor a better deal for

          6  public school children.  Since then, parents have e-

          7  mailed him with their concerns.  I'd like to quote

          8  briefly from one of his responses.

          9                  "Since Department of Parks and

         10  Recreation is the lead agency on this project, I

         11  have spoken with personnel there, specifically Aimee

         12  Boden, Director of the Randall's Island Sports

         13  Foundation...".  Here is an acknowledgment that the

         14  Executive Director of the Foundation, who is the

         15  contracting party, seems to be a staff person with

         16  the Parks Department.  Their offices are in the

         17  headquarters  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I need you to

         19  wrap up please.

         20                 MS. HAIMSON: --  Of the Parks

         21  Department, and Adrienne Benepe sits on the Board.

         22  This shows multiple conflicts of interest, which I

         23  hope this Committee will look into further.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. ORTIZ: Hello.  My name is Marina

          3  Ortiz.  And I live and work in East Harlem.  And I

          4  am the founder of East Harlem Preservation.  I have

          5  submitted a statement also, presented to me by the

          6  Chairman of the Economic Development Committee of

          7  Community Board 11, who is also opposing the

          8  franchise deal.

          9                 My statement is as follows.  The

         10  Randall's Island Sports Foundation claims there is

         11  no alternative to the proposed 30- year franchise

         12  that will benefit private schools, and no

         13  possibility of negotiating with the Department of

         14  Education or other agencies to include surrounding

         15  public schools.

         16                 The Foundation says there is also no

         17  possibility that private schools in question could

         18  use alternative sites such as Central Park, since

         19  the Parks Department would never allow that to

         20  happen, yet finds no fault with their contrary

         21  policy towards Randall's Island.

         22                 The Foundation has promised to stop

         23  holding private parties on the Island, and to stop

         24  preventing pedestrian access to the Island during

         25  such private events, by raising the pedestrian
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          2  footbridge, and establishing a large police presence

          3  at all points. We would like to have this promise in

          4  writing.

          5                 The Foundation is working with Con

          6  Edison to build a substation on the Island.  But has

          7  yet to disclose this information to surrounding

          8  communities.

          9                 The Foundation dismisses all claims

         10  of environmental threats posed by these developments

         11  as nonsense.

         12                 The Foundation does not provide

         13  financial updates or reports on any of its

         14  development projects to the general public.

         15                 The Foundation does not post its

         16  annual report or any financial data on concert and

         17  stadium even revenue on its website.

         18                 The Foundation has no local

         19  representation on its board, nor any local staff or

         20  office in East Harlem.

         21                 The Foundation does not advertise its

         22  stadium and concert events in neighborhood

         23  newspapers, nor does it adequately market such

         24  activities to East Harlem residents.

         25                 The Foundation does not publicize
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          2  meetings of its Randall's Island Community Advisory

          3  Board, likewise, minutes of these meetings have not

          4  been made available to the general public.         The

          5  Foundation does a great disservice to the historical

          6  contributions of local minority and blue collar

          7  groups to the betterments of Randall's Island, by

          8  ignoring the needs and concerns of these constituent

          9  groups.

         10                 For these and other reasons, East

         11  Harlem Preservation does not support the franchise

         12  deal, and respectfully asks that the Foundation be

         13  required to include East Harlem public schools and

         14  local organizations in any franchise agreement.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         16                 MR. BUBBINS: Hello.  Thank you for

         17  having this hearing.  The City Council is really

         18  showing its metal in standing up to the Mayor and

         19  the Administration.

         20                 My name is Harry Bubbins.  I'm the

         21  Director of the Friends of Brook Park.  I'm also a

         22  member of Community Board One in the South Bronx.

         23  And our interest in the appropriate use of Randall's

         24  Island stems from our over a decade of involvement

         25  in leading bike tours, nature walks with youth and
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          2  adults across the green fields of Randall's Island.

          3  More recently, we've expanded our environmental

          4  educational programs to include a paddling program

          5  on the Harlem and East Rivers in the Bronx Kill,

          6  directly to and from the proposed water theme parks

          7  site on the Northwest corner of the Island.

          8                 We're here as I think everyone in the

          9  room is, as firm supporters of Randall's Island

         10  Sports Foundation's stated mission.  And for the

         11  Parks Department.  Every year, we advocate for an

         12  increase in the budget of the Parks Department, and

         13  we look forward to some of those monies going to

         14  Randall's Island Sports Foundation for publicly

         15  accessible programs and fields.

         16                 Unfortunately, we're greatly

         17  concerned, and I spoke to most of the Board

         18  Directors of the Foundation personally, because we

         19  want to work together.  There's a lack of

         20  accountability, which is obvious from the need to

         21  have this hearing.  There's also a lack of

         22  sensitivity, I think, to the communities that they

         23  are supposed to be serving.  One example of that is

         24  from their website.  When they talk about the water

         25  park deal, which I'll go into a little more, there
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          2  is a troubling perception.  The water park is

          3  described on the Foundation website as proposed to

          4  be located in the Northwest corner.  "It is not a

          5  particularly popular or accessible part of the

          6  Island, as it abuts an industrial area".  That

          7  happens to be the South Bronx community that I live

          8  in, in District Eight.  So it's those kinds of

          9  perceptions that have outraged East Harlem, South

         10  Bronx, and public school residents.  It's

         11  inaccessible because of their own priorities.

         12            Instead of privatizing ball fields, we

         13  need to implement the South Bronx greenway, and open

         14  up the bridge to East Harlem year round.  Those kind

         15  of steps would develop a stakeholdership in the

         16  community that would allow us to fund all the fields

         17  we want through actual capital money, rather than

         18  relying on privatization deals.

         19                 And I will end with, we're here

         20  because of the alarm in the private school and

         21  public school community at the destruction of the

         22  fields that the water park would entail.  That's why

         23  they came up with this deal, so that they could

         24  preserve access.  So let's shoot down the water park

         25  deal that Ed Schyler, from the Giuliani
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          2  Administration probably has a lot of information on

          3  about, and move forward together to get public money

          4  for public fields.  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  Any

          6  questions?

          7                 Thank you very much.  Our next panel,

          8  Madeleine Rice, Bimla Picot, Karen Cohen, and

          9  Richard Davis.

         10                 MR. DAVIS: Madam Chair, Members of

         11  the Committee, I appreciate the opportunity to be

         12  here.  My name is Richard Davis. The Randall's

         13  Island Sports Foundation, which I chair, is

         14  dedicated to making Randall's Island Park accessible

         15  to as many of our City residents, and particularly

         16  young people, as possible. Currently, we bring 8,000

         17  public school children a year to the park for after-

         18  school programs, and another 3,000 children to our

         19  free Summer camp.  We are constantly striving to be

         20  able to do more. The plan being worked on for the

         21  development of playing fields on Randall's Island

         22  will help accomplish this goal.  I strongly support

         23  it, and let me say why.

         24                 One, we'll be increasing the number

         25  of playing fields from 36 to 63.  And all of them
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          2  will be first- class fields. This represents a 30

          3  percent increase in the number of playing fields

          4  available in Manhattan, and will create 48,000 hours

          5  of new available playing time in the park.

          6                 Two, in the three to six time,

          7  weekday time period, which has been the focus of so

          8  much attention, it's important to remember that 95

          9  percent of these playing time is currently permitted

         10  to the independent schools and, under existing Parks

         11  Department practice, this would continue for the

         12  foreseeable future.  Under the plan being developed,

         13  everyone will benefit, and have more fields to use.

         14  The independent schools will reduce their percentage

         15  of use during this time period, and with the

         16  increase in the number of fields, we will be

         17  freeing, for the first time, a significant number of

         18  playing fields for local community- based

         19  organizations and local public schools.  This means

         20  the number of playing time available to these young

         21  people during this time period will increase from

         22  approximately 540 hours today to over 3,600 hours a

         23  year.

         24                 We are actively working with the

         25  Department of Education, PSAL, and the local
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          2  community boards.  They're all in a position to take

          3  advantage of this increase.  This plan complements

          4  the other efforts of the Parks Department to create

          5  additional fields in locations in close proximity to

          6  public schools.

          7                 We're also, this project, also

          8  enormously increases the number of fields available

          9  to neighborhood youth and adult leagues during the

         10  busy weekend and Summertime period.  This is

         11  particularly important since these times, and

         12  particularly the weekends, are when we are faced

         13  with the greatest unmet needs.

         14                 When you look at the overall times

         15  during all of these periods, of the 111,000 hours of

         16  playing time on Randall's Island after this project,

         17  only 14 percent of that time would be used by the

         18  independent schools.  Over 96,000 of these hours

         19  will be used by others.

         20                 I just wanted, if I may, have one

         21  quick moment.  I apologize.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Quickly please.

         23                 MR. DAVIS: A crucial component of the

         24  ability of the City to proceed with this project is

         25  the willingness of the independent schools, who
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          2  continue to use these fields indefinitely, pay

          3  nothing, to pay $2.85 million a year.  That's $85

          4  million if the 20- year initial terms gets extended

          5  by an initial 10 years.

          6                 And whatever agreement is reached, I

          7  should say, in response to an earlier speaker, would

          8  be terminable at will by the City, as it would be in

          9  any license.

         10                 In sum, the plan being worked on is a

         11  win for everyone, and we're determined to work with

         12  members of the community, with the Council and other

         13  public officials  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         15                 MR. DAVIS: --  To accomplish that

         16  goal.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Please try to be

         18  respectful of the two- minutes.  Because if I

         19  continue to let everyone go over, it's going to

         20  create a problem.  We have over 50 people signed up

         21  to speak.

         22                 MS. RICE: Good morning.  My name is

         23  Madeleine Rice. I'm a Trustee for the Randall's

         24  Island Sports Foundation.  I was born and raised in

         25  New York City, and married to a man who was born and
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          2  raised in New York City.  And I'm a proud mother of

          3  two little girls, ages six months and three years

          4  old, who were born in New York City, and are being

          5  raised here.  And hopefully, will use Randall's

          6  Island for many, many years.  I love New York City,

          7  and I joined this Board to give back to the City.

          8                 I'm outraged by the misinformation in

          9  the press about our Foundations' beneficial projects

         10  and programs that we're bringing to the Island and

         11  our neighbors.  This discussion should be about what

         12  the children of the City of New York stand to gain

         13  from this field project.  This is about providing

         14  safe and healthy place for kids to run and play and

         15  grow.

         16                 My sister is a public school teacher

         17  in inner city Boston.  As her how hard it is to

         18  teach sixth and seventh graders just after lunch,

         19  when they've consumed soda and candy, and have no

         20  recess, because they have no place to have recess.

         21  Ask her how hard it is to teach and how hard it is

         22  to learn when children are not able to run around

         23  and play and burn out all that energy that kids have

         24  to burn.

         25                 Play outside and exercise are the
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          2  keys to beating childhood obesity and asthma.

          3  Instead of telling restaurants that they need to

          4  list the calories in their food, we need to give

          5  families a place to exercise and run and stay

          6  healthy.

          7                 So many children are going to benefit

          8  from this project and these fields.  I truly

          9  believe, as Kevin Costner says, if you build it,

         10  they will come.  Teams will be formed, and there

         11  will be thousands of available hours of field time

         12  for them.

         13                 When I joined this Foundation over 11

         14  years ago, to make a difference in the lives of New

         15  York City kids,  --  I didn't even have children of

         16  my own then  --  I only dreamed that we would ever

         17  be looking at 65 new fields and 48,000 hours of

         18  additional playing time for New York City kids.  Now

         19  our dream of getting a safe and beautiful place for

         20  New York City kids and families to play is about to

         21  be reality.

         22                 Please help us make this a reality by

         23  giving us your support.  Thank you very much for

         24  your time.

         25                 MS. PICOT: My name is Bimla Picot.
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          2  I'm a New Yorker.  Public School graduate of the New

          3  York City public school system.  Ten years ago,

          4  Karen Cohen called me and asked me if I would be

          5  interested in participating in a project she had

          6  initiated regarding the park.  A few days later, on

          7  a 90- degree June day, she took me for a tour of

          8  Randall's Island.  As we drove, I became intrigued

          9  by this 480- acre island that was surrounded by

         10  water vistas, cool breezes, and the somewhat bucolic

         11  setting.

         12                 Karen explained that this was the

         13  place where school- aged children from East Harlem

         14  and the Bronx, and Upper East Side schools played

         15  sports.  At first I was enchanted by this remarkable

         16  setting of such an incredible landscape right here

         17  in New York City.  But by the end of the tour, and

         18  on closer inspection, I realized that the fields

         19  were essentially dirt patches, that they were

         20  littered with glass shards, condoms, and syringes.

         21  While the children were playing on the field, I also

         22  noticed that on such a hot day, there wasn't a water

         23  fountain or a rest room in sight.

         24                 Although I was impressed by the

         25  vastness of the island, I suddenly felt ashamed that
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          2  a city as great as ours, this was the best we could

          3  provide for our children.  Karen went on to explain

          4  that her project and vision was to turn this

          5  incredible park that had been neglected for decades,

          6  into a pristine recreational facility for New York

          7  City families and school- aged children.

          8                 One of the other greatest

          9  inspirations for the park was the idea that we could

         10  provide a venue for children to get involved with

         11  sports and recreation.  We could at the same time

         12  take an active role in combatting the most dire

         13  issues facing the children of the neighboring

         14  communities, drug abuse and the onset of diabetes.

         15                 She had travelled the country and

         16  other countries to take the best of what she had

         17  seen to incorporate into the world class facility

         18  for us.  Many people felt that her plan was

         19  ambitious, and that it would be a challenge to come

         20  up with the resources to realize the vision she had

         21  for the park.  However, she and the Board members of

         22  Randall's Island believe that a creation of a public

         23  and private partnership with New York City's Park

         24  and Recreation would be the vehicle to realize the

         25  potential of this island and restoring the parks'

                                                            37

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  natural environment.

          3                 Although several of the private

          4  schools were using the Island at the time, we wanted

          5  to increase general public uses. We started with 500

          6  kids from the 30- year old who said, I want to give

          7  back to the Island that was great to us.  We now

          8  have 11,000 children from community- based

          9  organizations.

         10                 We can't fix the public school

         11  system, but we'll work with anybody who will work

         12  with us.

         13                 MS. COHEN: My name is Karen Cohen.

         14  I'm the Founder and President of the Randall's

         15  Island Sports Foundation.  I founded this

         16  organization in 1992 when no one was taking an

         17  interest in this park.  Or cared about it, even

         18  though there were many people that played there.

         19  They were playing there in a terrible, unused fields

         20  with problems, many problems.  Glass, condoms, and

         21  holes. They were really unfit for any young children

         22  to use.

         23                 And I felt very committed because I

         24  had been on many boards of children's organizations

         25  over the years, and I felt this was a place that I
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          2  could really help change New York so more people

          3  could have a place to play.  There were so many

          4  problems in the health of our children.  We had the

          5  biggest asthma problem in the country.  We have

          6  obesity.  There were latch- key children that had no

          7  place to go.  Their parents were worried about them

          8  being out on the streets.  And I felt that it was

          9  imperative that the children of New York City had a

         10  safe, clean place to play, where they could go out

         11  and enjoy themselves in the afternoon, work off the

         12  energy so they could sit down and do their studies

         13  at night, like the other children in the rest of the

         14  United States.

         15                 This is something that New York City

         16  had not focused on.  And I felt that it was my place

         17  to try and help all the children in New York.  Not

         18  just the private schools, but everyone. I had been

         19  working with these kind of children all my life.

         20  And I wanted to do something to better their lives.

         21                 And I think you have to understand

         22  that every one of us at the Randall's Island Sports

         23  Foundation care deeply about the community.  We've

         24  been working with the community, over 100

         25  organizations, 11,000 children, and we would like to
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          2  do more.

          3                 And I think it is really unfair of

          4  you to say that we have not been trying to do our

          5  best.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I don't quite

          7  know who the "you" you're referring to.  I don't

          8  think anybody  --

          9                 MS. COHEN: Well I feel that we need

         10  to all try to better this community, and we all have

         11  to  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And I think

         13  that's why we're all here.  And I know that's why we

         14  got an elective office.

         15                 MS. COHEN: I just take it personally.

         16    I'm very sorry.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No, no.  Don't

         18  apologize.               MS COHEN: Because this is

         19  something that I spent my last 15 years doing.  I am

         20  not a paid employee.  I do this out of the goodness

         21  of my heart, and I hear about everyone, and I want

         22  to make sure that everyone has the right to use

         23  Randall's Island Park from  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Ms. Cohen, don't

         25  feel defensive. It's clear  --  the fact that this
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          2  is a labor of love.  You started it.  So I'm just

          3   --  when you said "you", I wanted to make sure that

          4  we were clear, we're having this hearing so that we

          5  can  -- for everyone.  --

          6                 MS. COHEN: No, exactly.  For

          7  everyone.  We want everyone to be able to use

          8  Randall's Island.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I know Council

         10  Member Jackson has a question.  I have a quick

         11  question.  Are there people from the community that

         12  are on the Board of the Foundation, and actively

         13  involved in the Foundation?

         14                 MR. DAVIS: Well we had  --  just

         15  retired Dorothy Hyme (phonetic) from the Frederick

         16  Douglass Academy.  Hector Guswaldo (phonetic) has

         17  been on our Board for a number of years. And you

         18  know, we regularly  --  and I think the people from

         19  the community board  --  we regularly have met

         20  countless times over the years with the community

         21  boards  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No, no.  My

         23  specific question -  I understand meeting with   --

         24  but is there anyone who sits on the Board  --

         25                 MR. DAVIS: I think the two people

                                                            41

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  from the community would be Dorothy Hyme  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Who you said just

          4  retired?

          5                 MR. DAVIS: She just retired.  She was

          6  on our Board for a number of years.  She had been I

          7  think a Vice Principal of Frederick Douglass

          8  Academy.  And Hector Guswaldo, of Aspira.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: But no one

         10  specifically from Community Board Eleven or One.

         11  The community boards that  --

         12                 MR. DAVIS: I know.  I do not believe

         13  that there is somebody who actually lives in the

         14  community board who is on our Board.  While we

         15  interact with people all the time, I think you are

         16  correct, Councilwoman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Council Member

         18  Jackson.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you

         20  Madam Chair.  Good morning.  And let me just thank

         21  you for coming in.  I didn't  -- quite frankly, I

         22  didn't expect anyone, officials from the Randall's

         23  Island Sports Foundation to be at this hearing

         24  today.  I expected you to be at the next hearing.

         25  But I think it's good that you came.  Being
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          2  proactive is very, very important.

          3                 First, let me just thank all of you

          4  for caring about New York City.  And about Randall's

          5  Island and the conditions that exist there, and

          6  wanting to improve it.  And Ms. Cole, is your last

          7  name?

          8                 MS. COHEN: Cohen.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Cohen.  Let

         10  me just say to you, I'm very, very proud that you

         11  have taken this under your wings, and had spent so

         12  many probably thousands of hours and years and

         13  probably even some of your personal resources and

         14  connections to bring about a vision and to improve

         15  Randall's Island for use for everyone.  And I too

         16  know the passion that you have on this particular

         17  matter.  My involvement with the Campaign for Fiscal

         18  Equity, a lawsuit on behalf of the children of New

         19  York City that is bringing tens of billions of

         20  dollars more to ensure that our children receive an

         21  adequate education.

         22                 But it's a damn shame, it's a damn

         23  shame that the City of New York, Mayor Bloomberg,

         24  and all the prior Mayors, have allowed Randall's

         25  Island to deteriorate like it is.  And I agree with
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          2  a previous speaker, that in the greatest city in the

          3  world, we have Randall's Island and have done

          4  nothing with it.  And in fact, the whole issue of

          5  Randall's Island is about communication.  It's about

          6  inclusion.  It's about transparency.  It's about a

          7  bigger picture that may be tied up with Randall's

          8  Island.  Privatizing the City of New York.

          9  Privatizing the parks.  Privatizing education.     So

         10  it just so happened that this is the point of all of

         11  those things right now.  So you may not think that

         12  that's part of it, but believe me, it is.  So please

         13  understand that.

         14                 But my question to you is, I've read

         15  in the papers and I've heard that this was a

         16  secretive deal that was done between the parties.

         17  Because that's what basically the public is hearing

         18  about this.  And I want to know whether or not the

         19  elected officials that represent East Harlem  --

         20  because Randall's Island is part of Manhattan.  And

         21  the access for the community, as far as walking, is

         22  the 103rd Street bridge.  The only other access is

         23  through the Tri- Boro Bridge and various aspect

         24  points, which you have to pay a toll.

         25                 Have you involved  --  and I'm
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          2  talking to you and other members of the Foundation

          3   --  have you involved the elected officials that

          4  represent Randall's Island  --  like my colleague

          5  Melissa Mark- Viverito, from District Eight.

          6  Manhattan Borough President now, and Manhattan

          7  Borough President Scott Stringer, and the other

          8  elected officials that represent that area?  And the

          9  community representatives  --  whatever, I think

         10  it's Community Board Eleven.  Have you engaged them

         11   --  and not now.  I'm talking about when you

         12  started to talk about this negotiations with the

         13  private schools.

         14                 MR. DAVIS: Well I think that

         15  Councilman  --  first of all, I appreciate the words

         16  about the importance of the overall mission in terms

         17  of improving the park.  Because a lot of progress

         18  has been made, and more needs to be done.  I think

         19  that we have, in talking to the predecessors of the

         20  current officials, about you know, this plan, as it

         21  has evolved.  I think we just started talking to the

         22  current incumbents about three or four months ago,

         23  during the course of the Summer.

         24                 But I would like to say that this

         25  deal is not done. In other words, we are
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          2  negotiating.  We had ideas, and very specific ideas.

          3    And during the course of the Summer, when we

          4  started the process of talking to the elected

          5  officials, to try and get their input, their

          6  reaction.  You know, we are here today, and frankly,

          7  we may not like everything we hear here, but we're

          8  listening also.  Because we do want to continue to

          9  work with those who have been our supporters, but we

         10  also want to continue to work with those who have

         11  been critics, to try and figure out ways to make

         12  this  --  but we do think, you know, as it's

         13  evolved, is a win for everybody, if we can make it

         14  winner/winner for everybody, that would only be

         15  better.

         16                 MS. COHEN: Absolutely.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I totally

         18  agree with you. I think our Chairperson in opening

         19  up, said that we are going to negotiate a win/win

         20  situation for everyone.  And I think that that's the

         21  type of attitude that needs to take place in order

         22  to ensure that the children of New York City have

         23  access to all of these fields that are going to be

         24  built.

         25                 But now you said that you had prior
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          2  discussions with elected officials, at least the

          3  predecessors.  Now I know the predecessor of Melissa

          4  Mark- Viverito was Phil Reed for the past eight

          5  years prior to her.  And prior to Scott Stringer was

          6  former Borough President C. Virginal Fields.  And so

          7  you were talking with them?

          8                 MR. DAVIS: We were talking generally

          9  about this project, and generally what we were

         10  doing.  But I think when we got to the point of

         11  getting close to a real deal this Summer, is when we

         12  started discussing with the current incumbents.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And what

         14  about the State Senator for the area?  Is that Jose

         15  Serrano, Jr., I believe.

         16                 MR. DAVIS: I think we have mainly

         17  focused on the City officials.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 MR. DAVIS: And they  --  again, we're

         20  happy to talk to everybody, and I think Aimee Boden,

         21  our Executive Director and others are on, not just

         22  this issue, but a whole range of issues, on constant

         23  communications with the community board, have worked

         24  very close with them for a number of years on

         25  everything in terms of the you know, issues that
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          2  they may have on how to improve  --  we work very

          3  closely with them on the water park.  We work very

          4  closely with Scott Stringer on the water park, and

          5  others to earn his support and the community board's

          6  support.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, my

          8  message to you and the members of the Foundation is

          9  to have patience.  And do not make personal comments

         10  about other people's intentions.  Because you piss

         11  people off by doing that.

         12                 No, let me finish please.  So if you

         13  want to  --  if you feel that you have the best

         14  interests of the children of the City of New York

         15  and others available, at your heart, then  --  I'm

         16  not saying that you have, but let's try to stay away

         17  from comments about other people's intention.  And

         18  knowing that, that if there's going to be

         19  negotiations when it's all over, hopefully everyone

         20  will be able to stand together with the win/win

         21  situation.

         22                 But I ask you to be transparent.

         23  Share with community board and any other members of

         24  the public that want it, any information that you

         25  have concerning this particular matter. So for
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          2  example, if there is a proposed contract between the

          3  private schools and the Foundation, knowing that you

          4  represent not just yourself, you represent all New

          5  Yorkers in negotiations, because that's public

          6  property.  Isn't that correct?  That's public

          7  property?

          8                 MR. DAVIS: There's no question.  It's

          9  City parkland.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  So

         11  share everything. Be open and transparent, so that

         12  no one can say that you're hiding anything.  Or that

         13  you're trying to eliminate communities.  And

         14  especially, and especially communities of color that

         15  surrounds Randall's Island.  Because the majority of

         16  the private schools you're referring to, are White.

         17  And I know that.  Because you know one thing?  My

         18  daughter, who is now at Juillard, she went to the

         19  Dwight School.  And the Dwight School may be one of

         20  the schools  -- maybe, and I don't know  --  that

         21  may be using that school.  And the majority of those

         22  schools you're talking about is White.  And I don't

         23  want to get into a race class situation in New York

         24  City. Don't want to get that.  Don't want to go

         25  there.  We need to bring and unify the City of New
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          2  York and that's why I ask you to be transparent in

          3  everything you do, because you're negotiating on

          4  behalf of the people of New York City.

          5                 MR. DAVIS: Mr. Councilman, I just

          6  want to say that I mean, I have personally, over the

          7  years, spent enormous amounts of time, even before

          8  Randall's Island, working for example, when other

          9  people were focused on the Central Park south of

         10  96th Street, for the very reasons you've said.  I

         11  put my efforts into working with the conservancy and

         12  working with the community groups to get north of

         13  96th Street the priority that it deserves, for the

         14  very reasons that you said.  And I think that we are

         15  committed to working with the community.  I mean,

         16  we're committed to reaching out.  When I saw some of

         17  the e- mail messages that have been referred to by

         18  some of the earlier speakers, I actually reached out

         19  the other day to say that I would like to meet with

         20  some of the Class Size people and others to engage

         21  in a dialogue to discuss, to make sure that we

         22  understand each other, as we come to the best

         23  solution that we possibly can.  Because these are

         24  difficult issues, but we want to end up with the

         25  fields built, and try and see if we can serve the
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          2  most kids possible.  And I agree with you, I think

          3  everybody has the same goal, and we're all trying to

          4  figure out the way to get there.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you

          6  very much.  Thank you Madam Chair.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          8  Council Member Mark Viverito.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Thank

         10  you Madam Chair. And thank you for being here today.

         11    And I just want to clarify a couple of things,

         12  because we're talking here about the original

         13  proposed plan.  And my understanding is that that

         14  original proposed plan was presented already once,

         15  to the Franchise Concession Review Committee.

         16  Correct?

         17                 MR. DAVIS: It was presented  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: Yes,

         19  just yes or no.

         20                 MR. DAVIS: As a proposed plan, yes.

         21  Which  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: And

         23  that in doing that, in essence, you were trying to

         24  get this plan through, correct?

         25                 MR. DAVIS: Actually, that is the
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          2  first stage, because  --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO: I

          4  understand it's the first stage, but then in taking

          5  it to that point, in a way, you know, in essence,

          6   --  because you're saying that this is open for

          7  negotiation.  I think the negotiation has come about

          8  as a result of the community pressure.  And you

          9  know, and I think that that's important, and the

         10  elected officials, clearly, representing their

         11  constituencies, so  --  you know, and I do

         12  appreciate the willingness to revisit this, and I

         13  think obviously, as you're seeing here today, it's

         14  obviously an issue of great concern.

         15                 So I wanted to kind of just clarify

         16  that.  Because I understand the process.  And I know

         17  it's gone through the first round, and that there's

         18  a public hearing now, next, at the Franchise

         19  Concession Review Committee, and it has to go up for

         20  vote.

         21                 But I think that in essence, I just

         22  want to make one comment, I'll be very brief and

         23  then I know that other colleagues want to mention

         24  this.  But I know that there have been many times

         25  when we have met.  And there have been many concerns
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          2  that I personally have raised.  And I do appreciate

          3  the willingness on the part of the Foundation to try

          4  to really address some of those concerns, or to

          5  attend to them in some way.  But I want to keep

          6  going back  --  and I know I mentioned this a couple

          7  of times  -- go back to the issue of the lack of

          8  representation on your Foundation Board of community

          9  members.  Meaning, of the immediate surrounding

         10  communities.  Community Board Eleven, Community

         11  Board One.  In our conversations, I know that I made

         12  a recommendation and it seems that you're taking it

         13  up.  But I think we have to I think discuss it

         14  further about a community advisory board.  But at

         15  the same time, I think the voices of our community

         16  need to be on your board.  We need to have that

         17  voice there.  And so I'm going to keep you know,

         18  saying that, because we are not a community.

         19  Community Board Eleven, Community Board One, most

         20  immediately, are not communities to be pitied, are

         21  not communities to be spoken to.  Are not

         22  communities to be spoken at.  Are not to be

         23  considered "those people".  We are a community that

         24  demands respect, that demands our voice to be heard.

         25    And that we want the decency and the respect be
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          2  given to us to have us at the table when those

          3  discussions and those decisions are being made.

          4  That's what this is about.

          5                 And this is a greater issue.  And I

          6  have to say that.  Because I sit here and I hear,

          7  and I hear some of the language that's used, and I

          8  have a real concern and I don't know if people are

          9  getting it.  If people are getting what we are

         10  talking about, and what we are saying here.

         11                 And I have to be that forceful.  And

         12  I will be, every single time.  I will call a spade a

         13  spade.  I will say what is on my mind.  Because I

         14  feel very passionately  --  I live, work, and love

         15  my district.  And I live in East Harlem.  And I love

         16  my community.  And I want to be respected.

         17                 So having said that, I want to thank

         18  you though, for the willingness to at least revisit

         19  this plan.  I exhort the community to continue to

         20  come out and voice yourselves as strongly as you

         21  have, because you are the ones that give us the

         22  strength. You give me the strength to continue to do

         23  what I do.  So again, I will let my colleagues

         24  speak.  This is a greater issue here, and I know

         25  that we will keep bringing it up to discussion.  So
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          2  thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you Council

          4  Member.  Very well said.  Oftentimes, when you talk

          5  about communities of color, people want to talk to

          6  us as though we are to be pitied.  Save your pity

          7  for someone else.  So thank you.

          8                 Council Member James.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Since I don't

         10  want to incur the wrath of Council Member Viverito

         11  and the Chair, and Council Member Jackson, I'm from

         12  Brooklyn.  And we've got our own problems in

         13  Brooklyn.  Talk about privatization.  I've got a

         14  project for you that's privatization that a king's

         15  study in privatization.  And let me also talk about

         16  the Brooklyn Bridge Park.  That too is an issue with

         17  privatization.  So I really should mind my business,

         18  but I can't.  So I'm just going to ask a series of

         19  questions.  And again, it's with the utmost respect

         20  to my colleagues, who represent that district.  And

         21  let me just chime in.

         22                 Mr. Davis, how many members of color

         23  are on your Board?  Let me be very specific.

         24                 MR. DAVIS: Right now, there is two.

         25  And we had three and now it's two.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And how many

          3  members on your Board have children who attend

          4  public school?

          5                 MR. DAVIS: The answer is, I don't

          6  know.  Some do. Actually, my child happens to attend

          7  a hybrid school, meaning it's a special education

          8  school, but it's  --  and by the way, I do not have

          9  a child that has ever attended a school that would

         10  be involved in this fields project.

         11                 MS. COHEN: We have six Board members

         12  of color. Sorry.  We have six Board members  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Out of?

         14                 MR. DAVIS: Upper 20s.  I'll get you

         15  the exact number.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And what color

         17  would they be?

         18                 MS. COHEN: Purple.  We don't care.

         19  If anyone is willing  --

         20                 MR. DAVIS: African- American,

         21  Hispanic.  Indian.

         22  I mean, I think we don't  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: I understand

         24  your saying it's not a requirement, and you don't

         25  care.  But just let me stop for a minute.  Listen.
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          2  No, no.  I'm not saying it doesn't matter.  Wait,

          3  wait, let me finish.  They can be purple.  A

          4  person's perception is their reality.  I went to

          5  Nightingale.  I went to Randall's Island. Many, many

          6  moons ago.  I live in the Bronx.  When I went home,

          7  the kids that went to public school didn't get to

          8  Randall's Island.  So it's a real conversation.  A

          9  person's perception is their reality. And when we're

         10  talking about a Board and a Trustee, a Board of

         11  Trustees that's talking about  --  and yes, we know

         12  they've grandfathered in, but let's talk about his

         13  in a holistic point. It's grandfathered in because

         14  it's been exclusive.  Not because they've done

         15  something so right that they need this land.

         16                 So when you say they could be purple,

         17  the reality is that we do not have purple people.

         18  And we have to understand that proceeding, it does

         19  not look right.  And perception, for real. When you

         20  have a Board of six people of color, whatever color

         21  they may be, excluding purple, and we're talking

         22  about exclusive use for private schools,  --  I was

         23  one of two Blacks in my grade.  So it wasn't an

         24  overwhelming majority of color, people of color at

         25  Nightingale.  So it is real.  And these are
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          2  questions that are being asked because we're trying

          3  to get to a point where the Board reflects the

          4  community.  And the work that's being done is

          5  holistic.  So that it's a win/win for everyone.

          6  Because what you might see coming from the Upper

          7  East Side, is not the same thing that someone like

          8  Harry's going to see having to walk across a

          9  footbridge with trash, to get to Randall's Island.

         10  And if we understand that, and move forward that

         11  way, I think we're going to come up with an

         12  agreement and a contract that's for the best for

         13  everyone.

         14                 MR. DAVIS: Madam Chair, let me just

         15  say, I think  -- I share every bit of the sentiment

         16  that you just said.  Indeed, one of the reasons why

         17  when we were working with the City on Icon Stadium

         18  that we wanted it to be a first- class facility.

         19  Was because we felt it was important because that's

         20  heavily used by public schools.  That public school

         21  kids should have the feeling that the City cares

         22  about them.  That they're not going to give them

         23  just the minimal necessary.  Give them a true first-

         24  class facility.  And I think we are committed.  We

         25  have worked very hard through our after- school
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          2  programs, to bring thousands of kids out there.

          3  We've worked with the community and I think we try

          4  and do it you know, respectfully, and I think that I

          5  share the Councilwoman's you know, feeling that we

          6  need to probably improve. That's why we're working

          7  with her in the development of the community

          8  advisory council.  We heard the recommendation about

          9  the Board membership.  We are committed to working

         10  with the communities, all the communities of the

         11  City, particularly because of the nature of this

         12  park.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Thank you for

         14  recognizing the strength and the diversity of our

         15  City.  It's one of our greatest treasures.  But I

         16  didn't mean to make you defensive, but let me just

         17  move on to some other questions.  Three last

         18  questions.

         19                 I think some members of the panel

         20  mentioned diabetes and obesity.  Does the panel

         21  recognize that the health  --  that when you look at

         22  the categories of children who suffer from diabetes

         23  and obesity, the vast majority of them are children

         24  of color?  And particularly children from low-

         25  income families?  Are you aware of that?
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          2                 MR. DAVIS: Yes we are.  And indeed,

          3  that is one of the key reasons why we've worked with

          4  community in developing some of these after- school

          5  programs, to try and bring out kids, to try and deal

          6  with those issues.  That's why we're trying to get

          7  more fields for those kids.  It's exactly you know,

          8  the reason.  We have one of our programs you know,

          9  for example, for you know, kids who were

         10  specifically  kids who are overweight who are not

         11  athletic. We work with them to develop a program

         12  that they could participate in.  So we very much see

         13  that, agree with that.  And that has to be one of

         14  the great priorities for us in the City.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And my last two

         16  questions. Does the panel also recognize that the

         17  hours of three to six are the times when most

         18  children, particularly children who are idle, get in

         19  the most trouble.  And the vast majority of time

         20  when children, particularly children of color, low-

         21  income children, and children who are latch- key

         22  children, unfortunately, find themselves in a

         23  Criminal Justice System.

         24                 MR. DAVIS: I mean, I think that three

         25  to six is definitely an important time period from
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          2  the perspective that you've said.  And it's one of

          3  the reasons that I think we're talking about

          4  Randall's Island.  But I think it's very important

          5  that the Parks Department and others are working

          6  with programs that frankly, are a little close in

          7  proximity to where people live. Randall's Island is

          8  not the easiest place to get to.  I think we

          9  definitely need to work on programs to provide in

         10  the three to six time frame.  But frankly, also in

         11  some of these other time frames, including weekends,

         12  which can also be problematic.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And so by

         14  increasing the playing fields from 36 to 63, is it

         15  your testimony that you're renegotiating with the

         16   --  you're negotiating with the Department of

         17  Education to extend  --  open up these fields to

         18  children within public schools?

         19                 MR. DAVIS: We've met with the PSAL

         20  and we've been meeting with the people who are

         21  involved in athletic programs in the intermediate

         22  schools, to try and frankly, get them ready to use

         23  an increased availability of fields, if this project

         24  goes ahead. Because you know, too often, you know,

         25  it's been difficult.  We've provided buses in many
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          2  circumstances.  But we are working with them to try

          3  and get them in a position to use more fields, these

          4  additional fields, for the schools as well as after-

          5  school programs.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And my last

          7  question is, what is your position when individuals

          8  argue that this is an alienation of parkland?

          9                 MR. JAMES: Well, it's terminable at

         10  will.  This is a  --  as is currently being

         11  discussed, although again, we are reviewing this,

         12  and you know, continuing discussions with everybody,

         13  it would be 20 years plus a 10- year City option.

         14  But at any point, it's terminable at will, as all

         15  City park licenses are. And so we don't believe  --

         16  and I don't think the Parks Department believes  --

         17  that it is alienation of parklands.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: And the

         19  gentleman who just came in I assume is a public

         20  school  --  who are sitting in the balcony  --  I

         21  would just hope that they too can benefit from these

         22  park fields.  It's really important that again, we

         23  provide access to parkland to all of the children in

         24  public schools.

         25                 Yes, you guys.  So thank you for your
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          2  testimony here today.

          3                 MR. DAVIS: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          5  much.  I would encourage you to take the comments

          6  and concerns in terms of the advisory committee, and

          7  in terms of diversifying the trustee board to

          8  represent the community more.  And include the

          9  elected officials.  I would strongly encourage you

         10  to take that to heart. Thank you very much.

         11                 MR. DAVIS: I should say, Scott

         12  Stringer is actually on our Board.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And next we have

         14  Borough President Scott Stringer.

         15                 Good morning.

         16                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT STRINGER: Good

         17  morning Chairperson Foster.  Thank you for giving me

         18  an opportunity to testify at this hearing, Town Hall

         19  meeting.  I want to start by just recognizing that I

         20  think it would be helpful, with all due respect if

         21  the Parks had shown up.  And I think we should

         22  mention, you know  --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Well no, no.  To

         24  the Parks Department's credit, we had a conversation

         25  in which I allowed them to defer this part, coming

                                                            63

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  to this meeting.  This was more an informational so

          3  the public could speak.  Because at a later date, we

          4  are going to hold a meeting with the Parks

          5  Department.   So that is  --  they did not not show,

          6  they were given permission not to show, because it

          7  hasn't been finalized.

          8                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT STRINGER: Well

          9  thank you for clarifying that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: And, I should

         11  mention that there is a rep from the Parks

         12  Department here to hear the testimony, as well as

         13  Administration.

         14                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT STRINGER: Terrific.

         15    Okay.  Well I'm very glad.  Well thank you for

         16  giving me an opportunity to testify.  And the

         17  community.  I want to thank you for holding this

         18  hearing on the Randall's Island Ball Field Project.

         19  The proposal we're here to discuss, at it's core, I

         20  believe is a good thing.  It seeks to greatly

         21  improve the existing ball fields on Randall's Island

         22  while creating much needed new ones.  The plan does

         23  have a laudable goal to create 65 new and renovated

         24  ball fields.

         25                 We all share the same desired
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          2  outcome.  Improving our City's parks to benefit our

          3  children, local communities, visitors, and the City

          4  as a whole.  However, the proposal under

          5  consideration by the Franchise and Concession Review

          6  Committee falls significantly short of reaching that

          7  desired outcome.  I have serious concerns about

          8  whether or not the current proposal is truly the

          9  best plan for Randall's Island and all New Yorkers

         10  who wish to access it.

         11                 Randall's Island is located between

         12  the communities of East Harlem and South Bronx,

         13  where plans to create more open space is definitely

         14  needed.  As Juan Gonzalez of the Daily News pointed

         15  out in is October 25th, 2006 column, East Harlem is

         16  a community in which 58 public schools share eight

         17  ball fields. However, this Parks Department proposal

         18  comes with many strings attached, and does not

         19  fundamentally address the needs of the surrounding

         20  communities.

         21                 The funding for the fields is slated

         22  to come from the payments of $2.85 million annually

         23  from 20 independent schools, over a 30- year period.

         24    In exchange, these schools will receive exclusive

         25  access to 80 percent of the fields during the prime
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          2  time after school hours of three to six pm

          3  throughout the school year.

          4                 The proposal may sound simple, but I

          5  believe many questions remain.  My office posted 18

          6  follow up questions in a letter to the Parks

          7  Department, and the Randall's Island Sports League,

          8  regarding a proposal.  One important question is how

          9  do these 20 schools become selected for this

         10  program?  There are approximately 60 independent

         11  schools in Manhattan.  Was outreach conducted to all

         12  of these schools?

         13                 Financially, this deal is not a

         14  windfall for the City either.  New York City will

         15  make the initial capital investment of approximately

         16  $70 million through the Capital Program, to renovate

         17  and construct the fields, rather than through a

         18  special bond sale.  The independent schools will pay

         19  back $2.85 million annually, via expense and

         20  maintenance funds, not debt service.  If the City

         21  can afford the initial capital investment, the

         22  benefit of the deal is greatly reduced.  Since the

         23  bonds are not backed by this contract, what is the

         24  capital investment benefit to the City?  I ask you

         25  to consider that.
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          2                 Moreover, this all begs the biggest

          3  question: What do children from local communities

          4  who do not attend these independent schools tend to

          5  benefit from this plan?  Supporters of this proposal

          6  tout the fact that the project will increase the

          7  percentage of available sports fields in Manhattan

          8  by 30 percent. However, without improved access to

          9  Randall's Island, there is little or no chance the

         10  neighborhood communities will be able to take

         11  advantage of the increased space.  Yes, we do need

         12  more sports fields.  But we need to ensure that as

         13  we create them, we do so with an eye to the needs of

         14  the local communities as a whole.

         15                 There are also those who argue that

         16  currently, there is little local demand for fields,

         17  and therefore, we should simply accept the deal that

         18  is currently being presented.  But to think the

         19  demand will not change over a 30- year period is

         20  shortsighted. While I cannot look at a crystal ball

         21  and tell you what the future holds, I can tell you

         22  the following:

         23                 One.  The U.S. Census shows that

         24  nearly one- third of all East Harlem residents are

         25  under 20- years old of age, compared to just 19
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          2  percent in Manhattan as a whole.

          3                 The U.S. Census also shows 62 percent

          4  of the families in East Harlem include children

          5  under 18 years of age, compared to just 47 percent

          6  of Manhattan as a whole.

          7                 According to NYU's Furman Center,

          8  from 2002 to 2005, 1,960 new units of housing have

          9  been built in East Harlem.

         10                 The neighborhood of East Harlem

         11  continues to have one of the highest rates of

         12  building permit activity, and it's expected to grow

         13  significantly over the coming decades.

         14                 Over 1,000 units of housing are

         15  expected to be created as Council Member Mark-

         16  Viverito knows, from the Uptown New York Project

         17  alone.  And no mechanism exists in this current

         18  proposal to adjust the 80 percent exclusive access

         19  rights of the independent schools, should community

         20  demand increase.

         21                 There is little question the demand

         22  for prime time play grows  --  will increase as the

         23  total population and the number of families in the

         24  community grows.  And 30 years is roughly two

         25  generations of local children who will miss out on
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          2  the chance to use these ball fields, if the deal is

          3  currently passed in its current state.

          4                 In the same way East Harlem and the

          5  South Bronx will change, so will Randall's Island.

          6  There is a long- standing commitment to improve

          7  access to the island by foot, bike, and mass

          8  transit.  Improvements are underway on bike paths to

          9  the Island, and plans to rehabilitate the 103rd

         10  Street footbridge are now being discussed.

         11  Eventually, it's going to become easier for local

         12  community residents and other visitors to get to

         13  Randall's Island. However, if there is no usable

         14  open space for local residents during the peak play

         15  hours, why are we then improving access to this

         16  island, if it's only to benefit a privileged few,

         17  without making it open to these communities?

         18                 As a voting member of the FCRC, I'd

         19  like to take this opportunity to explain yet another

         20  reason we should all be deeply concerned about this

         21  proposal.  The rules of the FCRC clearly state that

         22  concession contracts are prohibited from being

         23  longer than 20 years in term, including renewal

         24  options.  For that reason, the proposed contract was

         25  written to skirt the law by offering a 20- year
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          2  terms as a symbolic and non- binding provision,

          3  stating the option to enter a new 10- year

          4  concession, by seeking a new FCRC approval.

          5  However, the financing for this project spans 30

          6  years.  So it's understood that this is really a 30-

          7  year contract.  Therefore, the only way for the City

          8  to receive all the funds is for the full 30- year

          9  term to run.  This skirts the law. This creates no

         10  incentive to terminate the contract in advance, if a

         11  need were to occur, allowing this to happen.  I ask

         12  the Council to further explore this.

         13                 In addition, I believe a proposal of

         14  this magnitude merits a transparent and public

         15  process, something this project has seriously lacked

         16  to date, especially in the communities of El Bario

         17  and South Bronx.  Many residents of the surrounding

         18  community have been, and remain completely unaware

         19  of the critical details of this project.  This

         20  hearing is an excellent first step in rectifying

         21  that problem, and I really applaud Council Member

         22  Viverito, Chairperson Foster, and the Speaker, for

         23  taking the time to help the community shed light on

         24  this issue.

         25                 Overall, in terms of the City, as
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          2  Council Member James alluded to, this is a

          3  precedent- setting proposal, and I think it's

          4  somewhat alarming.  There is a timeshare of public

          5  property. This is a timeshare of public property for

          6  too long a period without adequate regard for

          7  community needs.  And with only 20 percent of the

          8  fields open to the public during peak hours for the

          9  next 30 years, right now, I cannot support this

         10  endeavor as it currently stands.  At the end of the

         11  day, I want to be able to say that the FCRC acted in

         12  the best interest of Randall Island's future, our

         13  children's future, local residents, and the future

         14  of our ever- growing City as a whole.

         15                 I want to thank you for allowing me

         16  this opportunity to testify today.  And I really

         17  applaud you bringing the community in for a serious

         18  discussion.  I'm going to give you testimony.  I

         19  really ask your folks to look at some of the issues

         20  as it relates to the law.  As it relates to setting

         21  precedent.  And to take a very strong look.  And

         22  we'll be very happy to cooperate with the research

         23  we've done in terms of this deal.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

         25  much for taking the time.  And we have a copy of
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          2  your testimony.  And I started the hearing, and I

          3  will say it again for people that may have just

          4  gotten here, that we actually had a conversation

          5  with the Parks Department and the Administration.

          6  And asked them, or allowed them not to be here.  And

          7  so, they have reps here, and it is not a no show

          8  type of thing.  More so, that they are going to look

          9  at the contract to make sure it's a win/win for

         10  everyone.

         11                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT STRINGER: No, and I

         12  recognize that, and it was just  --  there was just

         13  some confusion I guess at our office as to whether

         14  this was a hearing or a Town Hall meeting. So it's

         15   --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Well it's a

         17  hearing in the sense that all the testimony is for

         18   --  we're going to connect it to the next one.  But

         19  I just wanted to make sure.

         20                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT STRINGER: I don't

         21  want whether the Parks Department should be here or

         22  not to be the center of my testimony.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Oh no, no.  It's

         24  not at all. The center of your testimony is what you

         25  said.  We are going to take it.  We have a copy of
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          2  it.  I thank you for taking the time. And for

          3  everybody that is wondering why he didn't get two

          4  minutes, it's because he's an elected official, and

          5  it's a point of personal privilege.  Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 We are going to   --  I have the

          8  Community School for Social Justice.  We've got to

          9  get them back to school, so I'm going to call Edwin,

         10  Mario, and Raymond.  Are you the three speaking?

         11  They're coming down?  Okay.  Come right up  --

         12  Edwin, Mario, and Raymond.  Who am I missing?

         13  Because I have three names and four people.

         14  Matthew.  Okay.  Mario, Edwin, Matthew, and Raymond.

         15

         16                 Push  --  when the light's off, it's

         17  on.  And you can start.

         18                 MR. GARRASTEGUI: First I want to say

         19  good morning, and thank you for your time.  I'm

         20  Mario Garrastegui, and I represent Community School

         21  for Social Justice.  We're a school in the Bronx,

         22  and I'm here to talk about how the parks affect us.

         23                 Well first off, I want to say we're

         24  limited among quality and time for the parks give us

         25  limited amount of times to play baseball games.
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          2  When we play baseball games, we don't usually have

          3  baseball games probably takes up four hours of our

          4  time.  But we're not sure, you know, if the baseball

          5  game is going as planned. And personally, when we

          6  play baseball, and there was something about a time

          7  frame of being from three to six, well three to six

          8  is the most of our games.  And with three to six

          9  comes  --  after three to six you know, private

         10  school kids come here with a form telling us that we

         11  have to leave the park after three to six.  And

         12  personally, we don't keep track of time of how the

         13  game goes, and all the other things that come with

         14  playing baseball.  And personally, we're not even an

         15  official PSAL baseball team yet.  You know, there

         16  was an individual that spoke about how he has been

         17  talking to the PSAL.  Well, it's been taking me, as

         18  a senior in my school, four years to make a baseball

         19  team.  And with limited amount of time and parks

         20  comes limited among of playing time.  So thank you.

         21                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Hi.  My name is Edwin

         22  Rodriguez, and I have met with Ms. Helgin (phonetic)

         23  and Ms. Viverito before regarding Brook Park.  And I

         24  met with the Parks Department as well, with Harry.

         25  So you know, I'm not new to this.  You know.  I've

                                                            74

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  been here a while.  I fought for parks already, so

          3  what I got to say is, from three to six, that's when

          4  our school is out.  You understand?  And from three

          5  to six, to be honest, I prefer being sweating in a

          6  baseball park than being in the street, doing

          7  something negative.  You understand?  Thank you.

          8                 Randall's Island for us you know,

          9  that's where we go.  Like I say, I prefer being in

         10  Randall's Island than being in the streets doing

         11  negative.  Randall's Island take that negative from

         12  us.  Whether we're playing baseball or we're playing

         13  football, we're just  --   you know, children don't

         14   --  what teenagers do. You understand?  And all of

         15  these teenagers here, each and every one of them up

         16  there has sweat. Their sweat is in Randall's Island

         17  right now.  You understand?  So I have you recent go

         18  over there and you know, that's fun for us.  You

         19  understand?  Now like he said, we're not even a

         20  baseball team yet.  We're talking to the PSAL but it

         21  pisses me off seeing that people are trying to take

         22  our parks. You understand?  So now we got to worry

         23  about people taking our parks instead of you know,

         24  talking to the PSAL for the baseball team.  We been

         25  talking to PSAL for three years now.  You
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          2  understand?  Begging them.  You understand?  A lot

          3  of these people, their grades are fixed because they

          4  want to play baseball.  You understand?  And without

          5  a park, where are we going to play baseball at?

          6                 We also  --  we come from the Bronx.

          7  We cross the bridge every day afoot, with gears on.

          8  I'm telling you, pounds and pounds of gear.  You

          9  understand?  That stuff we see on the floor, the

         10  garbage, the rat, all that, that's not necessary.

         11  When we there and we see other students come, I

         12  don't know what schools they come, they come in

         13  school buses, they come in their uniforms, and they

         14  tell us that they have a permit and we could leave.

         15  I don't think that's right.  Or us not being able to

         16  play in a park for a signed agreement.  I don't

         17  think that's right.  So that's all pretty much what

         18  I got to say.

         19                 MR. FERMIN: Thank you.  My name is

         20  Matthew Fermin. I'm an 11th grader at Community

         21  School for Social Justice.  And the thing about

         22  Randall's Island is that we all go there, all of us.

         23  We go to Randall's Island, stay out of trouble.

         24  Instead of being at home in the streets early, doing

         25  anything negative, bad stuff, and it takes us out of
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          2  trouble.  And them imagine walking a bridge. Dirty.

          3  Dirty.  You got gear.  We take turns carrying

          4  catcher's equipment.  And then to play.  And kids

          5  come.  White kids.  They got uniform.  Everything

          6  matching.  And they come and in buses that stops

          7  them right next to the field.  And before they come,

          8  a truck, something cleans the field for them.  They

          9  come, they kick us out. We leave, to walk that

         10  bridge back again, and get home late, in time.  The

         11  sweat in there.  And then they come, they practice,

         12  they play the game, the cleaners  --  the field is

         13  clean.  Everything is fine for them.  But for us, we

         14  don't even have uniform.  We're not even official

         15  PSAL team.  We've been practicing, and we do a lot

         16  over there, because all of those kids up there,

         17  they're staying out of trouble.  They're not in the

         18  streets.  So for kids come, kick us out the field.

         19  We got to move or either go home.  That hurts you

         20  know, because we don't like that.  We get mad of

         21  course, because who wouldn't?

         22                 Imagine  --  and you're going to be

         23  tired, because we get out of school half a day, and

         24  we're there a whole day. Practicing, practicing.

         25  And then to walk a bridge again and go home, take
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          2  the train.  While these kids have buses.  You know.

          3  And that's what I don't like about that.  And I

          4  don't really support the plan.  I want Randall's

          5  Island to stay the way it is, and that we become a

          6  PSAL team.  Because I've been in school for three

          7  years, and everybody up there telling PSAL, we want

          8  to make a team. Kids doing their stuff in class

          9  because you want to have a average so you could play

         10  baseball instead of being in the streets.  And we

         11  all practice, and we're trying to get a PSAL team to

         12  you know, play games, stay out of trouble.  And

         13  that's what I wanted to say. Thank you.

         14                 MR. PICARDO: How you doing?  My name

         15  is Raymond, and I just wanted to summarize what my

         16  friends said.  Mario, just about the way we're

         17  trying to organize the team.  Me as the best on the

         18  team, you know, I like to take that part.  I like to

         19  take that part.  I take most of the responsibility

         20  from the team.  What Mario said, and you guys said,

         21  just the way things are, the way we come and play.

         22  We get on the  --  they've given us permission from

         23  three to six.  We get out of school at 3:03.  From

         24  the time we get to Randall's Island from our school

         25  on 149th, to walk all the way --  sometime we got to
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          2  take a shortcut because of the caution that we have,

          3  because the path to Randall's Island is not that

          4  safe.  If you go through Harlem, it's through 125th

          5  in Harlem.  You've got to be cautious.  If you go

          6  through the Bronx, you got to go through projects,

          7  and you got to be cautious.

          8                 The things I've seen on that bridge

          9  is not  --  I seen body bags, maggots, all this.  I

         10  seen drugs.  All this.  And then we got to walk that

         11  bridge as a precaution of everything else. The

         12  bridge has no railings, and it's about not even past

         13  my waist. The sides.  And just everything.  And just

         14    --  we don't want this just to go away from us.

         15  And you know, we just want to make a team, and all

         16  this.  Just to be  --  because I want to be a

         17  baseball player in my future.  So I'm working real

         18  hard just to help the team and help myself to

         19  achieve what I want to be.  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  May

         21  you speak?  What I need you to do is say your name

         22  for the record.  And be brief, and then sign a sheet

         23  and come tell me.  Go ahead.  In the mike.

         24                 MR. BANISTER: For the record, I'm

         25  Harrison Banister.  The after- school program
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          2  assistant for Oakley Roads, like they mentioned,

          3  we're located in Community School for Social

          4  Justice.  This team is pretty much brand new.  And I

          5  know they have a lot of frustration and anger with

          6  the environment over at Randall's Island.  But most

          7  of this reflects on the water park, and having the

          8  water park being there at Randall's Island.  I'm

          9  quite sure they don't want that to happen.  Because

         10  right now, as they mentioned, we have limited like

         11  opportunities over there with the fields and space

         12  and stuff like that.  So if there is a water park,

         13  they will have absolutely no space at all.  So they

         14  will basically be bumped out.

         15                 And we're trying.  We're striving.

         16  We're working very hard and to get into the park and

         17  having some space and opportunity to play.  So

         18  therefore, you know, we're totally against the park.

         19    And I just wanted to remind everyone, that you

         20  know, it's about not having the water park at

         21  Randall's Island so we could continue striving for

         22  the space that we're looking for.

         23  All right?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  Make

         25  sure to fill out a form and have it brought up.
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          2                 Council Member Jackson.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: First of all,

          4  let me just thank the young people for coming in and

          5  expressing their opinions and giving testimony about

          6  this very important issue.  As high school students,

          7  I know the feeling as far as sports and playing

          8  baseball and running track.  And in fact, you know,

          9  when I was in high school, at Benjamin Franklin High

         10  School on 116th Street and FDR Drive, in running

         11  track, we used to run track on FDR Drive, and we

         12  used to run in the old stadium at Randall's Island.

         13  And so I know and I look back at myself when I was

         14  your age.

         15                 But let me just say to you, I think

         16  that you as young people, are very vulnerable to

         17  listening to information that is fed to you or given

         18  to you by a lot of people.  And I'm saying to you is

         19  just be aware and be open to conversations from all

         20  people.  Meaning that I think that the goal as laid

         21  out, is to try to improve access to Randall's

         22  Islands for everyone.  But clearly, this settlement

         23  negotiations that are taking place, this will

         24  approximately 80 percent of all of the fields being

         25  exclusively used by private schools between three
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          2  and six.  But what they also are saying is that

          3  there will be more fields built, so that you will

          4  have access to additional fields that don't exist

          5  now.

          6                 I hope in the long run, that there

          7  will be a resolution, a settlement where you will

          8  have more access to fields that are in good

          9  conditions, that are cleaned before you arrive

         10  there, also, and that will be cleaned on a

         11  continuous basis.  And more access for the private

         12  schools also.

         13                 And I'm not saying it should be one

         14  or the other. I'm saying there should be more fields

         15  available for everyone, in order so that you can

         16  play and enjoy yourself without having someone else

         17  coming and say, listen, you got to leave, it's our

         18  time now.

         19                 And I think that that's where I think

         20  that I would like to see.  And I do know though that

         21  there's a lot of other things, and you may not have

         22  been here earlier, where I said there's bigger

         23  issues, and this is just a spearhead of it, such as

         24  the privatization of public schools, the

         25  privatization of parks and other things that belong
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          2  to the City of New York.  And that's a bigger issue

          3  where other adults are involved in that.  Which this

          4  is being tied into as one aspect, in my opinion.

          5                 So just be aware of that, and try to

          6  get as much information, so that when you speak, you

          7  could speak from knowledge and from a factual point

          8  of view, and continue to express yourselves.  But

          9  understand the sensitivity of some of the things

         10  that you may say, some people may take wrongly or

         11  rightly.  So just be aware of that.  And just be

         12  positive, okay?   Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  We

         14  have a question from Council Member James.  But

         15  Harry, if you could reach out to my office so we can

         16  assist with getting them in the PSAL and find out

         17  what the problem  --  what it is.  It might work

         18  out, but we'll see what we can do.   Council Member

         19  James.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: So you talked

         21  about your baseball team.  Do you win?  How's your

         22  average?

         23                 MR. PICARDO: I'm on the team. How can

         24  they lose?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: You're humble,
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          2  huh?  What position do you play?

          3                 MR. PICARDO: I play third base.

          4  There's a war there.  You ain't seen nothing there

          5  about it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: Let me just say

          7  to the person who  --  I forget who testified

          8  earlier  --  race and class, unfortunately, in the

          9  City of New York still matters.  And we really  --

         10  these children, these young men really need to have

         11  access to the park field, and they need to achieve

         12  all of their dreams.  Don't let anyone say that you

         13  can't make  --  that you cannot achieve your dreams.

         14    Don't let anyone place any obstacles in your way.

         15  The only obstacle should be within, and

         16  unfortunately, you can reach your full potentials.

         17  You have it right within your hand.  Just release

         18  it, and you can unleash the power that lies within.

         19                 I want to thank your teachers, your

         20  principal.  I want to thank your parents for doing

         21  an excellent job.  Let me just tell you,

         22  congratulations to all you young me.  I look forward

         23  to seeing you one day on the Mets or the Yankees, or

         24   --

         25                 MR. PICARDO: The Red Sox, the Red
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          2  Sox.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES: The Red Sox.

          4  Okay, the Red Sox.  Very good.  And when I term out

          5  of City Council, if ever you need a lawyer, call me.

          6                 MR. PICARDO: Thank you Miss.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 Our next panel, Gary Samuels, Michael

         10  Melendez,  -- thank you very much  --  Robert

         11  Hoffman, and Arlene Virga.

         12                 As soon as you're ready, you can go

         13  from left to right, and just state your name for the

         14  record please.

         15                 MR. SAMUELS: Gary Samuels.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

         17                 MR. SAMUELS: I represent the New York

         18  City Housing Authority Robert F. Wagner Community

         19  Center, located in Community Board 11, in East

         20  Harlem.  We presently serve over 1,000 children at

         21  our location in our development.  We have a large

         22  part of our children attend the Randall's Island

         23  Sport Foundation each week. The programs that we do

         24  there are various, because our children do not have

         25  the opportunities to participate in sports
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          2  activities in the area which they live in.  There's

          3  limited sports areas. There's limited fields.  So by

          4  going to Randall's Island, they're able to

          5  participate in things that they normally would not

          6  have access to.

          7                 In the process of them being there,

          8  we also have community centers that piggyback with

          9  us that we reach out to once a week and we ask them

         10  for five or ten of their students that would like to

         11  participate, and we take them as well.  This allows

         12  the children in our communities to have access to

         13  various sports from football to baseball, to soccer,

         14  to golf.  Things that they normally would not have

         15  access to.

         16                 By being in the program, our children

         17    --  again, they were talking about the diabetes

         18  and so forth that 's going on in East Harlem  --  it

         19  helps to raise their physical stamina, it helps to

         20  give them recreational activities.  And we know that

         21  by -  we support the fields as well, as I'm aware

         22  that the private schools helping to fund the

         23  project, will have 80 percent of the fields from

         24  three to six pm time slots during school days.

         25  However, I'm also aware that the schools, they now

                                                            86

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  have grandfather clauses on the Randall's Island

          3  field permit, and therefore, have an existing lock

          4  at 95 percent of the fields on the Island.

          5                 So right now, the community groups

          6  and public schools are locked out from using 95

          7  percent of these fields during three to six pm

          8  school days, because these schools have grandfather

          9  permits.  And it will continue to be the situation

         10  because of the grandfather permits and how they

         11  work.  Thank you.

         12                 MR. MELENDEZ: Good morning everyone.

         13  My name is Michael Melendez.  And I am the Director

         14  of the El Faro Beacon After- School Program at

         15  Junior High School 45 in East Harlem.  I represent

         16  one of the scores of local community- based

         17  organizations and public schools that have quandered

         18  (sic) with Randall's Island Sports Foundation.  I

         19  have over 1,000 kids in my after- school program,

         20  many of whom suffer from asthma, lack of exercise,

         21  and obesity and need these kind of programs and

         22  activities to stay available to our children.  Our

         23  kids are already participating in various free

         24  Randall's Island Sports Foundation- sponsored youth

         25  programs on the Island through Randall's Island Kids
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          2  Camp, including track and field, soccer, golf,

          3  tennis, dance fitness, nature, and general field

          4  days.  The sports project will provide fields for

          5  increased Randall's Island kids programming.  The

          6  new field will allow Randall's Island Sports

          7  Foundation to expand existing Randall's Island kids

          8  free youth programs that are currently serving

          9  11,000 children, making room for more community

         10  based organizations, partners, and more of our

         11  youth.  The project benefits all local children from

         12  local community- based organizations through public

         13  schools, and kids who just want someplace safe to

         14  play on the weekends.

         15                 The Randall's Island kids programs

         16  would no doubt expand because of the availability of

         17  more fields for the kids to play.  That means

         18  healthier physical and mental lifestyles for our

         19  youngsters, Harlem, and South Bronx residents.

         20                 For many years, Randall's Island has

         21  provided transportation to my children to and from

         22  Randall's Island and all the activities that would

         23  normally not be available to them.  So I am in favor

         24  of Randall's Island project.  I thank you.

         25                 MR. HOFFMAN: Good morning City
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          2  Council.  My name is Bobby Hoffman.  I am the

          3  Director of the Catholic Youth Organization,

          4  Manhattan Youth baseball program.

          5                 I'm here today to represent over

          6  1,000 children who, each Spring, Summer, and Fall

          7  play on the fields of Randall's and Ward's Island

          8  and are the beneficiaries of the extreme efforts the

          9  Randall's Island Sports Foundation has done to

         10  recapture the park from the wasteland it was allowed

         11  to become.  CYO MYB first became associated with the

         12  RISF in 1995.  Most of the fields were more dirt

         13  than grass.  Picket lines were formed prior to a

         14  game to pick up broken glass and other hazards.

         15  Bathrooms were nonexistent, and it was common to

         16  have a game interrupted by motorcycles and cars

         17  driving across the fields.  Over the past 11 years,

         18  by sheer determination to save the park and create a

         19  sports environment for all of New York City, the

         20  RISF started changing the landscape, first with the

         21  driving range, then turning the tennis center into a

         22  public/private concession, turning the ancient

         23  Dowling Stadium into the marvelous Ichan Stadium.

         24                 While these projects have sex appeal

         25  to the press, with the rewards of Tiger Wood showing
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          2  up and making it great, the Red Bulls making a

          3  celebrity appearance, and other celebrities making

          4  appearances at Cirque de Soleil, they're getting

          5  their hands dirty, slow, quiet, hard work.  Bringing

          6  the grass back to the fields.  Clearing out dense

          7  and dead woodlands and creating walkways to bring

          8  the island back to a vibrant park land.

          9                 The concept of private/public

         10  partnership is not new.  It has successfully

         11  restored Central Park to its prominence as one of

         12  the greatest parks in the modern era.  On behalf of

         13  CYO MYB I have continually worked in that

         14  partnership with the Central Park Conservancy and

         15  the RISF.  It is through these partnerships that all

         16  people enjoy the best that the park can offer.

         17                 Through the proposed partnership with

         18  the group of independent schools, the RISF will be

         19  able to create a field system that will enable all

         20  New York City children, especially in those

         21  neighborhoods that participate in the Randall Island

         22  kids program, to play on more fields.

         23                 Children have a unique way of seeing

         24  what is right and what is wrong.  The children would

         25  tell you this is right.  But they are in school
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          2  today and do not vote.  I am here for them.  I am

          3  here to say for the record that the RISF always had

          4  the interest of all children as their focus in this

          5  renovation of the park. This project is right for

          6  everyone, as a parent and a leader of parents, we

          7  urge you to vote for the children of New York City.

          8  All children of New York City.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         10                 MR. MELENDEZ: Excuse me.  May I

         11  mention something? For the young men that mentioned

         12  that they didn't have transportation to get to

         13  Randall's Island to play baseball, if they come join

         14  my program, I will provide transportation to the

         15  park and the fields so they could play in.

         16                 MS. VIRGA: My name is Arlene Virga,

         17  and I represent 1,600 children and their parents

         18  from private, parochial, and public schools who

         19  utilize Randall's Island through my program. These

         20  children play baseball and flag football on

         21  Randall's and Ward's Island.  I'm from the Yorkville

         22  Youth Athletic Association, which is a not- for-

         23  profit organization which has very low fees and

         24  offers scholarships to all children who want to play

         25  in our programs.
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          2                 Randall's and Wards' Island is in

          3  dire need of renovation.  The Randall's Island

          4  Sports Foundation has worked tirelessly over the

          5  past 15 years to improve the quality of the park.

          6  Surrounding communities from Long Island have balked

          7  at coming to the Island to play, because of the lack

          8  of safe fields, the glass, and the simple toilet

          9  facility issues that exist on the Island.

         10                 The City of New York is poised to

         11  spend millions of dollars to help fund this project.

         12    The issue seems to be private funding.  Many other

         13  projects such as Central Park, Ichan Stadium, has

         14  been the result of private funds.  The issue here is

         15  not the private money, but the percentage of the

         16  fields that will go to whom.  And I must say that

         17  I'm not for the privatization of any parks, but I am

         18  for all children to participate in these parks, and

         19  that the money come from people who are for that

         20  too.

         21                 Our children need safe ball fields to

         22  pursue the desire to play sports.  The park is for

         23  all children.  And the Randall's Island Sports

         24  Foundation has helped ensure that through projects

         25  such as their young children's program, which
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          2  provides 5,000 underprivileged children access.  I

          3  support the Randall's Island Sports foundation

          4  because I feel all children will be served.  Talked

          5  about.  Just  --  another paragraph.

          6                 The issue here is  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: If you could just

          8  wrap it up, I literally have 50 more people to

          9  testify.  Please.  Thank you.

         10                 MS. VIRGA: Okay.  The issue here is

         11  privatization, which I oppose.  However, I believe

         12  that through private monies, all will benefit and

         13  programs like mine, who offer low fees and

         14  scholarships to children can help this become  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you. Thank

         16  you very much. I thank you for your patience.

         17                 Our next panel is George Sarkissian,

         18  Kyle Helm, Christian DiPalermo, and Bernard Erlich.

         19                 I'm sorry.  I've been joined by

         20  Council Member Alan Gerson, who I keep forgetting to

         21  recognize, from Manhattan.

         22                 Thank you.  You can begin.

         23                 MR. SARKISSIAN: Thank you.  My name

         24  is George Sarkissian.  I'm the District Manager of

         25  Community Board 11.  And I'm here speaking on behalf
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          2  of the Board, and our Chairman Mino Rios.

          3                 Community Board 11 is currently

          4  reviewing the Randall's Island Sports Foundation

          5  proposal to renovate or create 65 new ball fields,

          6  and fund the project through revenues collected from

          7  private, independent schools.  In return, these

          8  independent schools will receive commitments to use

          9  80 percent of the fields between the hours of three

         10  pm and six pm on weekdays.  We expect to develop a

         11  position on the project shortly, but we ask our

         12  elected officials and the Franchise and Concession

         13  Review Committee to wait to receive our comments

         14  before voting on the matter.  We will be as

         15  expeditious as possible, and expect to conduct a

         16  complete review and present a comprehensive position

         17  on this project.

         18                 We believe a project of this scale

         19  and importance deserves a thorough community review,

         20  as it has the potential to affect our community for

         21  the life of the proposed agreement.  We expect to

         22  conduct our review of the Randall's Island Sports

         23  Foundation proposal and engage in negotiations that

         24  take into consideration community- based planning.

         25                 The Mayor, Borough President, and
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          2  Council have all touted the benefits of community-

          3  based planning, and we expect them to be receptive

          4  to our recommendations.

          5                 The current plan to limit the

          6  community's use of the ball fields, especially in

          7  the hours after school, was not reached in

          8  cooperation with our community board, nor the East

          9  Harlem community.  The right of a community to plan

         10  their own future and determine how to use their own

         11  land, is an important component of that cherished

         12  American value, self determination.

         13                 As the community board, with the

         14  responsibility for the planning and development

         15  activities on Randall's Island, we want to ensure

         16  that our community's residents are afforded every

         17  and all opportunities to fully utilize all the

         18  facilities on Randall's Island.  And any proposal to

         19  develop new ball fields must meet that expectation.

         20                 After years of being ignored and

         21  neglected, our community of East Harlem now stands

         22  together, ready to determine its own future.  Equity

         23  is no longer something we fight for, it is now

         24  something we demand.  Thank you.

         25                 MR. HELM: Good morning.  My name is
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          2  Kyle Helm, and I work for Harlem RBI.  Harlem RBI

          3  uses baseball and softball, and the power of teams

          4  to provide inner- city youth with the opportunities

          5  to play, to learn, and to grow, inspiring them to

          6  realize their potential and hopefully realize their

          7  dreams.

          8                 But in order to do this, we need to

          9  use the ball fields between those hours of three and

         10  six, on a regular basis. And really, I'm not even

         11  going to take up my full two minutes, I really  --

         12  my concern is that we have about 37 teams right now.

         13  We serve over 700 mainly Hispanic and African-

         14  American youngsters in our community, and we do this

         15  because we believe in them.  And we use the power of

         16  teams to put them on baseball and softball teams so

         17  that hopefully, after they graduate from high

         18  school, not that they will become professional

         19  baseball players, but that they will be much better

         20  young people.

         21                 And in order for us to do this, we

         22  need the use of the baseball fields on the

         23  guaranteed basis.  We cannot hopefully --  oh, one

         24  day we'll be able to practice on the Tuesday, and

         25  the next week we'll have to practice on a Friday,
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          2  and maybe we'll have to practice on a Sunday.  We'd

          3  like to have schedules just like the private school

          4  kids will be able to come on a regular basis and

          5  they have a schedule and not have a bus to drop them

          6  off.

          7                 We right now, actually have a van.

          8  We have to hire a van driver to drive young people

          9  to Randall's Island on a regular basis.  And we do

         10  this, not because we have to have someplace to play.

         11    We do sometimes play in Central Park, but there is

         12  always no guarantee that we can play in particular

         13  places.

         14                 While we have enjoyed our

         15  relationship with the Parks Department, that has

         16  allowed us to use the field, we really need a

         17  guarantee that we can be able to continue to do

         18  this.

         19                 And thank you very much.

         20                 MR. DIPALERMO: Good morning.  My name

         21  is Christian DiPalermo, and I am the Executive

         22  Director of New Yorkers for Parks, the only

         23  independent watchdog for all the City's parks,

         24  beaches, and playgrounds.

         25                 We've presented to you multiple times
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          2  before, over the years, and we've talked about the

          3  cuts to the Parks Department's operations budget,

          4  with resulting in poorly maintained athletic fields,

          5  among other features.  We've also mentioned the

          6  challenge of finding new fields for our growing

          7  population, and the ever- increasing different uses

          8  we use for those fields.

          9                 And we come today to talk about

         10  Randall's Island. Randall's Island can't be talked

         11  about without beginning  --  it begins and ends with

         12  access.  We, as a City, have to decide how we're

         13  going to get out there all the people of New York

         14  City.  And it can't just be based on can somebody

         15  drive out there.  So we have to figure out a way  --

         16    it's a public service.  We owe it to the children

         17  of our City to do.

         18                 New Yorkers for Parks hopes that this

         19  hearing is the first step in what should be a

         20  fruitful and transparent process as the City moves

         21  forward with its negotiations on the future

         22  development of Randall's Island.  Everyone agrees

         23  that the goal of adding new and well- maintained

         24  parks and athletic fields is worthy. But what means

         25  should be employed to achieve those goals?  Specific
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          2  questions that must be addressed include:

          3                 Could government support the

          4  maintenance of this important regional park?  Or

          5  should traditional philanthropy raise the necessary

          6  annual funds?

          7                 Could a combination of government and

          8  philanthropy be successful?

          9                 Can the upgrade to the fields be made

         10  without a contract for exclusive access?  I think

         11  that's an integral question that we have to ask.

         12                 Does exclusivity exist today?  Is it

         13  fair and equitable in this City and in other cities?

         14                 Should the contract be competitively

         15  bid out?

         16                 And, should the contract, which lays

         17  out the consortium's payment obligations and

         18  exclusive permits be annually renewable, rather than

         19  go for 20 years?

         20                 The prospective agreement of

         21  Randall's Island is actually forcing all of us, the

         22  Mayor, the City Council, the Comptroller, the

         23  Manhattan Borough President, public and private

         24  partnerships to once and for all, address the parks

         25  dilemma straight on.  Do we think parks are worthy
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          2  of public investment so they may provide universal

          3  access?  Or is it time to move to a model that

          4  requires some sacrificing of universality of

          5  parkland in return for a essential funding.

          6                 We're looking for an equitable

          7  resolution.  We're looking forward to working with

          8  you and all the parties involved. Thanks.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         10                 MS. FRANCIS: Hi.  I'm not Bernard

         11  Erlich, but Bernie and I are --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I was wondering.

         13                 MS. FRANCIS: We're going to combine

         14  our testimony in the essence of time.  Sure.  I'll

         15  tell you who I am.  My name is Judi Francis, and I'm

         16  the President of the Brooklyn Bridge Park Defense

         17  Fund.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm sorry.  And

         19  did you fill out one of these?

         20                 MS. FRANCIS: Yes, I did.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay.

         22                 MS. FRANCIS: Yes, at the same time

         23  Bernie did.

         24                 Okay.  The mission of our

         25  organization is to help protect public parkland for
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          2  the public.  And to prevent privatization of public

          3  parks for uses other than open, welcoming,

          4  accessible recreational space for residents and

          5  visitors.

          6                 We want to take this opportunity to

          7  support the valiant efforts of you, Councilman

          8  Foster, and obviously our own Brooklyn's crown

          9  jewel, Leticia James, and all of the Committee

         10  Members.  In your quest to prevent forces of private

         11  developers from creating a park system whereby those

         12  who have, get to decide for the rest of us, how our

         13  open space is used by whom, and for what purpose,

         14  and at what time.  I think all of us here, I don't

         15  know that there's a man or woman who weren't moved

         16  by Raymond and Mario and Matthew.  And all of the

         17  sports coaches who are trying to build up our youth,

         18  and trying to really to provide what is  -- what our

         19  City Planners have always provided, open, accessible

         20  space for our children.

         21                 Our public parks are under siege

         22  however, and by a very surprising foe.  The New York

         23  City Parks Department itself. When the Parks

         24  Commissioner is allowed to decide that our public

         25  parks are a source of revenue, rather than an
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          2  opportunity to enhance the quality of life for all,

          3  equally, something is seriously wrong with the

          4  system.  It started with Randall's Island in the

          5  Northway, in the North Park, giving public parkland

          6  to a private water developer.  Charging more than

          7  $35 a day for a swim is unattainable for most

          8  children who frequent the north end of the Island

          9  today.

         10                 Then there is Yankee Stadium, taking

         11  more than 22 acres of parkland for a parking lot,

         12  simply because the Yankees do not want to play one

         13  season out of their ballpark.

         14                 And, in Washington Square Park,

         15  dozens of trees are now on the block, the chopping

         16  block, because the center of the fountain needed to

         17  be  --  the fountain needed to be moved to the

         18  center  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I'm sorry.  To be

         20  fair, and you mentioned that stadium, and I didn't.

         21  But to be fair, if you could just wrap up whatever

         22  you have printed, we can make copies and make sure

         23  it's distributed for the record.

         24                 MS. FRANCIS: Okay.  I just  --  I

         25  took 40 seconds for the other thing, but yes, I
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          2  will.  And of course, Brooklyn Bridge Park, which

          3  now has six luxury high- rise condos rising at 20

          4  and 30 stories, planted right inside park borders.

          5  That's very near and dear to me.  And of course,

          6  today, we're talking about again Randall's Island,

          7  separating the public from the private, allowing

          8  private schools to pay their way to use our public

          9  parks.              All these cases have two things

         10  in common.  Number one, there is  --  there are

         11  private deals being made in private and outside of

         12  the community.  Number two, it's the alienation of

         13  parkland.

         14                 Our recommendation.  Recommendation.

         15  We urge  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No, no, no.  You

         17  please  -- just you've have your  --

         18                 MS. FRANCIS: I don't have this last

         19  part written.

         20                 Just four recommendations.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Really.  Look.  I

         22  want to be fair.  I want to be fair.

         23                 MS. FRANCIS: But you took 40 seconds

         24  to identify and to ask questions.  So can't I just

         25  say there's four things you could do.  Number one,
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          2  you could  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: No.  Please.

          4                 MS. FRANCIS: It's not written.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Okay, then just

          6   --  no, no.  I want to hear it.  Write it.  Give it

          7  to us.  I just  --  I need to be fair.  Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 The next panel, Elizabeth Press, Bob

         10  McCullogh, Jonathan Ramos, and Pat Shitke.  I'm

         11  sorry.  I can't hear you. Joel Kupferman.  And

         12  Jonathan Greenberg.

         13                 Feel free to get started.

         14                 MR. MCCULLOUGH: Good morning.  My

         15  name is Bob McCullough.  I'm the President of Each

         16  one Teach One, a youth developmental program in East

         17  Harlem.  I'm also the Chair of Community Board 11

         18  Parks and Recreation Committee.

         19                 And I've been working with the

         20  Randall's Island Sports Foundation for over 15

         21  years.  And we, at Community Board 11, have not

         22  really, really come to any type of conclusion,

         23  mainly because there was a vote taken that all of

         24  the 14 committees in Community Board 11 will be

         25  dealing with the resolution.  So what I'm hoping for
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          2  is that people will hold their judgement until we,

          3  at Community Board 11 have had an opportunity to

          4  look at all of the items in the resolution.  And on

          5  November the 14th, at our full Board meeting, Madam

          6  Chair, we are going to really come up with a

          7  resolution.

          8                 And I'd also like to take this

          9  opportunity to let it be known that our

         10  Councilwoman, Melissa Mark- Viverito, has been very,

         11  very helpful in working with the youth in the

         12  community.  And I'm happy that she's made those

         13  remarks that she has made.  I'll try to quote her.

         14  You cannot talk about us.  You can talk with us.

         15  That's very important.  It need our active

         16  participation.

         17                 And the last thing I want to say is

         18  that there's a diary need (sic) for a community

         19  relation director from East Harlem that will

         20  coordinate and encourage middle schools by the

         21  Department of Education as well as community- based

         22  organizations to become more involved in the use of

         23  facilities.  I have spoken to the Randall's Island

         24  Sports Foundation concerning this recommendation.  And

         25  the other thing that I want to say, because I think
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          2  that's crucial.  That's the reason why I'm bringing

          3  it up now, because I've heard everybody talk about

          4  the participation of the public schools.  There's a

          5  need for --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: I need you to

          7  wrap up please.

          8                 MR. MCCULLOUGH: Yes Ma'am.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         10                 MR. MCCULLOUGH: And the other thing

         11  that I want to say is that there's also a diary need

         12  (sic) for a person of color from Community Board 11

         13  to be on the Board of Trustees or the Board of

         14  Directors of the Randall's Island Sports Foundation.

         15    Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         17  Whomever.

         18                 MR. GREENBERG: My name is Jonathan

         19  Greenberg.  And I'm a parent, and the coordinator of

         20  the Open Washington Square Park Coalition, and the

         21  lead plaintiff in the lawsuit to keep Washington

         22  Square Park open, and publicly funded.

         23                 We see this as part of the same

         24  process, which is what we call a back door

         25  privatization of our park space.  And I want to
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          2  thank this Committee.  Because this is  --  you are

          3  basically the champions of the people of the City of

          4  New York in this battle.  This is not about who

          5  cares about children playing in our public spaces

          6  and parks.  We all want there to be public space.

          7  This is about how those public spaces are funded,

          8  and hence, who controls access and time to those

          9  public spaces.

         10                 This is about a deal  --  and I think

         11  the Council Member from the district put it very

         12  well.  That you are being dictated to, by the

         13  Bloomberg Administration, which oversees a $1.9

         14  billion surplus, saying to you that if you want this

         15  change to happen, if you want public spaces, then

         16  you will accept the 80 percent usage by private

         17  schools in most of these  --  virtually all of these

         18  playing fields, for 30 freakin (sic) years.

         19                 That's what's happening here today.

         20  I am amazed, as a taxpayer and a life- long New

         21  Yorker and product of public schools, that the

         22  people who are negotiating this deal for our public

         23  resources are a private foundation, never elected,

         24  and unresponsive to our local bodies.  This is about

         25  whether we the public, through you our elected
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          2  representatives in the City Council, are going to be

          3  able to continue to maintain control of our public

          4  spaces.

          5                 I've heard some of the most fantastic

          6  statements from the Members of this Committee here

          7  today.  And I want you to say I am tremendously

          8  impressed, and please keep with it.  This is an

          9  important issue to Washington Square Park, which is

         10  being privatized, to all of our parks, and to the

         11  people of this City. Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         13                 MR. RAMOS: Good morning.  My name is

         14  Jonathan Ramos. I am the After- School Program

         15  Director at a not- for- profit in the South Bronx

         16  called Abraham House that serves 73 students from K

         17  through high school grade levels.

         18                 I am in full support of the Randall's

         19  Island fields project.  Our students were granted to

         20  opportunity this Fall to attend the Randall's Island

         21  Soccer Instruction program.  Our children are about

         22  90 percent from Mexican immigrant families.

         23  Extremely low income, with histories of violence,

         24  abuse, histories of incarceration in the family,

         25  including medical histories of diabetes, obesity,
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          2  and asthma.  We were fortunate enough  --  just to

          3  note how much die- hard fans our students of soccer,

          4  they'd cringe to hear me use the word "soccer" as

          5  opposed to what they consider football  --  We were

          6  fortunate enough to lock in a time slot to go to

          7  Randall's Island that worked with our students'

          8  homework schedules.  My students will actually be

          9  visiting the Island today at 3:30 pm.

         10                 My only concern is to think about

         11  what other after school programs in the community

         12  with probably just as many die hard soccer fans, are

         13  not getting the opportunity to attend the Randall's

         14  Island Friday soccer instruction program.

         15                 We are lacking the proper sports

         16  facilities in the community, and but more than

         17  filling in the void with their beautiful sports

         18  fields of all sorts, Randall's Island provides our

         19  program with the structure that our students need to

         20  further their physical education.

         21                 It's actually one of the few places

         22  that I'd allow my kids to go without my supervision.

         23    Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         25                 MR. KUPFERMAN: Joel Kupferman.  I'm
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          2  the Executive Director of the New York Environmental

          3  Law and Justice Project, the National Lawyers Guild

          4  Environmental Justice Committee Parks Task Force,

          5  and more importantly, the New York Freedom of

          6  Information Center.

          7                 The process stinks until today.  The

          8  Parks Department  --  and I'm very familiar with

          9  what the Parks Department has been doing in terms of

         10  information, in terms of Washington Square Park, in

         11  terms of Riverside Park, in terms of other parks.

         12  They just do not give us any information.  Time and

         13  time again, they violated requests for vital

         14  information.  And now, we have a Foundation that

         15  believes they're even further away from this

         16  information law.  They're in constant violation of

         17  the Freedom of Information Law, and Open Meetings

         18  Law, both technically and in spirit.  They haven't

         19  been forthcoming and it's only through open meetings

         20  like this that we know  --  and as I understand it,

         21  there's many elected officials that we try to

         22  contact about Randall's Island that didn't even have

         23  all the documents from the Parks Department that

         24  they requested.

         25                 How can these elected officials, and
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          2  how could the City Council make any type of informed

          3  judgement on what's going on, if they won't even let

          4  us have access to these documents?

          5                 So I think the question is not just

          6  access to the parks, not just access to the bridge

          7  going over to the park, but access even to their

          8  thoughts, their papers, and the process.

          9                 Which brings up the question of how

         10  much accountability do we have if we don't have

         11  access to their processes?

         12                 The Foundation is now performing

         13  typical government functions, and should be held

         14  accountable as such.  That's basically what the law

         15  states.  That's what democracy is all about. And by

         16  having the Parks Department and the Mayor let the

         17  Foundation dictate what we're doing, by I would say

         18  a small amount of money,-   and I would consider

         19  that to be a Trojan Horse  --  that happened in

         20  Riverside Park when in order to put artificial grass

         21  into the park, the donator said I will only allow

         22  the Central Park Conservancy to be the general

         23  contractor.  We have a problem that we couldn't even

         24  get access to those records.

         25                 So I'm finishing up now, I just want
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          2  to say that we should not accept this Trojan Horse.

          3  And it's really incumbent upon you guys to make sure

          4  that first of all, the Freedom of Information Law

          5  and Open Meetings Law are enforced.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  Our

          7  next panel is Manny Perez, Steve Portericker,  --

          8  he left?  Thank you.  Josh  -- I mean, excuse me,

          9  Joseph  --  left?  Irma Mendez.  David  --  I can't

         10  read that.  Galarza?  George Calano.  Is David here?

         11    Oh, sorry David.  George?  You're George?  Bronson

         12  Bingier.  Is that four?  Thank you.

         13                 You can start whenever you're ready,

         14  whatever end.

         15                 MR. GALAZA: Good afternoon.  My name

         16  is David Galaza.  And first and foremost, I want to

         17  thank Council Member Melissa Mark- Viverito for

         18  telling me about this important hearing last night.

         19  And a fine journalist, Juan Gonzalez, for exposing

         20  this matter to the public.  Indeed.

         21                 As someone who grew up in Sunset

         22  Park, Brooklyn, which has the unenviable distinction

         23  of being labeled the City's laziest neighborhood

         24  following the release of study by the City's

         25  Department of Health, I simply want to express my
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          2  solidarity with the residents of East Harlem, who

          3  garnered the title of the most obese neighborhood in

          4  the same study.  The release of the study coincides

          5  with the recent plans by the Mayor to privatize and

          6  decrease public access to public parks flies in the

          7  face of reason, sanity, and fairness.  Sadly, it

          8  also seems to be very indicative of how this

          9  Administration treats its poor working families and

         10  our children.

         11                 Indeed, the Mayor's Commissioner for

         12  Parks recently closed down a very popular boxing gym

         13  in Sunset Park.  This gym has produced some of the

         14  finest athletes in the City, many that have gone on

         15  to win Golden Glove competitions and other various

         16  competitions.  A lame excuse that was given for this

         17  closure, and the kids were told to go elsewhere

         18  while another location was found.  These kids can't

         19  afford to go anywhere else.  They know they must be

         20  waiting for a long, long time.  Perhaps as long as

         21  the 20- 30 years the poor children in East Harlem

         22  will have to wait to use the park a stones throw

         23  away from their neighborhood.  They won't be

         24  children in 20 or 30 years, but I'm sure they'll

         25  remember.
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          2                 Sunset Park has the fewest parks and

          3  open spaces of amy community in New York City.

          4  We've been promised a waterfront park.  That will

          5  not happen for many years, since more monies are

          6  needed, and the toxic land that the park is slated

          7  for needs to be remediated, and that may take more

          8  and more years.

          9                 There are some beautiful open fields

         10  too, and parks in our adjoining community of Red

         11  Hook.  But with the kind of secretive dealing that's

         12  been going on with the Mayor and private interests,

         13  we should all probably be afraid and concerned about

         14  the future of these parks as well.

         15                 The City's Health Department would

         16  more than likely continue to monitor the health

         17  conditions of Sunset Park and East Harlem residents

         18  for the next 20 or 30 years and beyond.  Two

         19  communities that suffer disproportionately from high

         20  risks of obesity, asthma, diabetes, and poverty,

         21  among some of the other deadly concerns.  But I

         22  could tell you right now, the City continues to

         23  treat the children and families in poor

         24  neighborhoods the way if does, the City cannot

         25  expect much of a difference in the rates of obesity
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          2  and asthma, diabetes and poverty.  And that too will

          3  become a part of Bloomberg's legacy.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          5                 MR. CALANO: My name is George Calano.

          6    I'm the Athletic Director, and head of physical

          7  education at Collegiate School.  I'm also the head

          8  Cross Country and Track Coach there. I've been at

          9  Collegiate since 1971, so I've been taking students

         10  into the New York City Park system for over 35

         11  years.  It's either physical education students,

         12  cross country runners, track and field athletes.

         13  Beyond that though, I speak to you today as someone

         14  who can say that the New York City Park system has

         15  been a significant part of my life.  I can honestly

         16  say that I have been in the New York City park

         17  almost every day of my life.  Growing up on Staten

         18  Island, I was a regular at Clover Lakes Park, Silver

         19  Lake Park, or Walker Park.  As a high school student

         20  at Brooklyn Tech, I ran at Prospect Park, Red Hook,

         21  and Fort Greene Park.  Van Cortlandt Park as well.

         22  And it's from that perspective that I have said for

         23  years that the Borough of Manhattan has the poorest

         24  recreational facilities of the five boroughs.

         25                 That sad fact is only changed in
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          2  recent years as several public and private

          3  partnerships have formed to make a difference.  One

          4  only has to look at how the New Balance Track and

          5  Field Center at the 168th Street Armory and more

          6  recently, Ichan Stadium, have helped to revitalize

          7  track and field in New York City.  Participation has

          8  increased significantly, and more youth are active

          9  today, at a time when obesity and sedentary

         10  lifestyles have been well documented.

         11                 These joint ventures need to

         12  continue.  The Borough of Manhattan and New York

         13  City desperately need additional and improved

         14  facilities.  There are not enough fields to meet the

         15  needs of schools and recreational leagues.  Fields

         16  are substandard, but are tolerated, because there

         17  are no alternatives.

         18                 The most difficult part of my job has

         19  been trying to find fields for the games.  I can

         20  speak for many other athletic directors in Manhattan

         21  who would say the same.  We have had games canceled

         22  because an opponent could not secure a field.  That

         23  almost happened as recently as yesterday.  We are

         24  located three blocks from Central Park, so Central

         25  Park is basically in our neighborhood, yet we have
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          2  never been granted a permit to the North Meadow

          3  Fields.  Why?  Because the public schools do get

          4  priority to the North Meadow Central Park fields.

          5                 I'll summarize.  I'm saddened and

          6  concerned as I read how the talking points have been

          7  drawing this debate into a "rich versus poor".  And

          8  it's very easy stereotyping, but it's very

          9  misleading.  And in the final analysis, the kids,

         10  the youth of this City are hurt.  And the youth of

         11  this City can't afford a decade of deadlock.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         13                 MR. PEREZ: Hi there.  I represent the

         14  New York Advertising Co- Ed Softball League.  My

         15  name is Manny Perez.  I'm the President of the

         16  League.  It's a non- for- profit (sic) organization.

         17                 Basically, in 1976, we started

         18  playing softball up on 97th Street, by the North

         19  Meadow, in an area called The Ditch. We had no

         20  softball fields.  We asked around for permits for

         21  Central Park, Morningside Park.  We couldn't get

         22  permits.  Then we talked to the Parks and

         23  Recreation, and found out about Wards Island.  We

         24  went out to Wards Island and there are fields out

         25  there.  Dirts, grass, beautiful fields.  Not
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          2  maintained.  But we started playing out there, and

          3  we grew to 32 ad agencies, media- related companies.

          4  And we're playing softball out there Monday through

          5  Thursday, six to eight o'clock, or six to dust

          6  (sic).  They're wonderful fields. And through the

          7  years, we played and used those fields and we seen

          8  motorcycles go by the fields, and people not using

          9  the fields properly.  And then came the Randall's

         10  Island Sports Foundation. All of a sudden the fields

         11  changed.  Maintenance was done.  I couldn't believe

         12  it.  Our agencies were happy.  We want them to

         13  continue.  We will support the Randall's Island

         14  Sports Foundation, because we need more fields.  We

         15  have other ad agencies, other media- related

         16  companies that want to join our league to play

         17  softball.  We're adults, but we're also kids.  And I

         18  am older than dirt.  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  Oh.

         20  Watch yourself.

         21                 MR. BINGIER: My name is Bronson

         22  Bingier.  In 1937 to 1944, I went to one of the

         23  private schools that now is involved in this

         24  contract.  At that point, we didn't play in

         25  Randall's Island. We played in Central Park, which
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          2  had 70,000 people in the Parks Department, in the

          3  entire Parks Department, maintaining it and running

          4  the Recreation Department.  In 1978 through 1985, I

          5  was Assistant Commissioner of the Parks Department,

          6  in charge of capital construction and design.  At

          7  that point, we had less than 2,500 people in the

          8  entire Parks Department.  This shocking fact is not

          9  much better today.

         10                 In 1983, I started myself, Bill

         11  Rainey (phonetic) Park in the South Bronx, where I

         12  had done some community housing, and I knew there

         13  was a terrible shortage of playing fields.  And the

         14  PAL was meant to be maintaining that.

         15  Unfortunately, Bill Rainey died, and the park in now

         16  in ruins.

         17                 Most of my capital projects in my

         18  seven years at the Park Department were based  --

         19  were made necessary by the fact that we have not

         20  maintained park.  We were doing deferred

         21  maintenance, and then we were just restoring ruined

         22  parks, which sometimes would be ruined within three

         23  or four years, due to lack of maintenance.

         24                 This has forced the Parks Department

         25   --  and I came into the Parks Department about the
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          2  same year that Adrian Benepe did  --  and he is a

          3  superb parkee.  He started as a Ranger.  He's now a

          4  wonderful Parks Commissioner.  And I like him very

          5  much.  But he is actually forced now, to try to find

          6  funding to maintain his parks, and to do programs in

          7  his parks that he shouldn't have to go to the

          8  private sector for.  And when you go to the private

          9  sector for concessions, or anything else, you pay

         10  for it.  You pay for it by ruling out, or giving out

         11  special privileges and this should not be allowed to

         12  happen.  And my main plea to this Committee  --

         13  although I think the Randall's Island new ball

         14  fields are going to be marvelous  --  but please,

         15  work to triple or quadruple the budget for the Parks

         16  Department.  It is shockingly lacking.  And in

         17  Brooklyn Bridge Park, where I am, they're giving out

         18  to private housing within the park, and a private

         19  police force half the size of Central Park's police

         20  force, in order to get the park built and

         21  maintained.  And the maintenance budget is so high,

         22  that it is creating bigger and bigger housing win

         23   --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  I'm

         25  sorry.  I have to cut you off.  I just have a quick
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          2  question for you, being that you were once in the

          3  Parks Department.  What is your thoughts on the

          4  Parks Department being able to keep the portion of

          5  the concession they raise?  Or do you have one?

          6                 MR. BINGIER: To keep part of those

          7  concessions?  I think any concessions the Parks

          8  Department can get the funding from should be kept

          9  within the Parks Department.  I think one of the

         10  problems that goes back into the general fund, and

         11  it's useless. The same is true of the PILOTS that

         12  are performing  --  that Ridge Park is going to

         13  have.  $15 million, which is many times what they

         14  need for the park, are going theoretically to

         15  maintain the park. But that will not be under the

         16  control of the Parks Department.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         18  Thank you very much.

         19                 Our next panel, Patricia Begley,

         20  David Tagle, Romon Morel, Jean Silva.  Thank you.

         21  Jean has left also.  Diane Phillpotts.  Please join

         22  this panel.  Gregory Hodge.  Gregory Hodge.  Oh,

         23  okay.  Thank you.

         24                 MS. PHILLPOTTS: Good afternoon Madam

         25  Chair and Members of the Committee  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Is the light off?

          3    Light off. Now talk.

          4                 MS. PHILLPOTTS: Okay.  Great.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Here we go.

          6                 MS. PHILLPOTTS: Thank you.  My name

          7  is Diane Phillpotts.  I'm a resident of Harlem, and

          8  I'm also a Board Member of CIVITAS, which is an

          9  organization.  I won't repeat much of what has been

         10  said.  I am very supportive of increased sports

         11  facilities at Randall's Island.  But I also think

         12  it's important that you know, access should be

         13  improved.  And I agree with what Councilman Jackson

         14  said on that point, that that really is the issue.

         15  And to that end, CIVITAS has long advocated a

         16  pedestrian bridge to improve access to Randall's

         17  Island, because it is just unconscionable that the

         18  determinant of who gets to use it should be who has

         19  a bus, or who can hire a driver for their van, or

         20  that sort of thing.

         21                 So we would like to work with the

         22  elected officials to improve access, and we have a

         23  study that we'd be happy to share with you for a

         24  bridge that in the vicinity of 120th and 116th,

         25  where more residents of East Harlem can in fact have
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          2  access to the Island.  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          4                 MR. MOREL: Can you hear me?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Yes.

          6                 MR. MOREL: Good morning.  My name is

          7  Ramon Morel. I am Athletic Director at Academy of

          8  Environmental Science.  We're located in East

          9  Harlem.  On 100th Street and First Avenue.  So close

         10  to Randall's Island, and we can actually see it from

         11  our windows.  But our kids have had very little use

         12  of the regulation fields at the Island because there

         13  are no fields available to give to us.  I mean,

         14  none.  Instead, for the last two years, we have

         15  received a permit for a large, uneven patch of grass

         16  that we have come and used for our football

         17  practice, track and field activities, and baseball

         18  practices.  And all activities that we have going on

         19  in the school.

         20                 We are part of the Champs flag

         21  football league program, for public middle schools.

         22  And other activities through Champs.  And we should

         23  have access to many regulation fields at Randall's

         24  Island for all our teams at the school.

         25                 We love Randall's Island.  We have
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          2  been coming to the Island for the Jesse Owens track

          3  program.  The batting cages. Again for our football

          4  practice and games, and other activities and field

          5  days.  We, the staff, and our students, want to do

          6  many more sports, and we need more fields to do

          7  this.  Therefore, we strongly support the new fields

          8  project.

          9                 Furthermore, I support this field

         10  project while I am well aware that the private

         11  schools helping to fund this project will have 80

         12  percent of the fields, from three to six time slots

         13  during the school days.  However, I am also well

         14  aware that it is these schools that now grandfather

         15  clauses on the  --  that have grandfather clauses on

         16  the Randall's Island field permits, and therefore

         17  have an existing lock on 95 percent of the fields on

         18  the Island.  So right now, community groups and

         19  public schools are locked out from 95 percent of

         20  these fields during three to six pm school days,

         21  because these schools have grandfather programs.

         22  And that will continue to be the situation, because

         23  that's how grandfather permits work.

         24                 Compared to this additional situation

         25  of one field available for after- school programs
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          2  per week to a public school group, I would rather

          3  have these fields project, with the opportunity for

          4  many community groups and public schools to have

          5  substantial more fields during three to six after

          6  school, plus substantial more fields during week

          7  days and Summer days.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          9                 MR. MOREL: Just one sentence.  I'm

         10  sorry.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: One sentence.

         12                 MR. MOREL: Yes.  I therefore support

         13  this new fields project at Randall's Island Park.

         14  We will have many more fields that will benefit our

         15  community and our kids.  Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  Next.

         17                 MR. TAGLE: Nice to see you gentlemen

         18  and ladies. Well, I'm Manhattan Soccer Association,

         19  and the Chilean Soccer League.  I play for 16 years

         20  in Randall's Island, and two years in Riverside, and

         21  two years in the park.  Let me see.  Begin the

         22  comment to Randall's Island, it's a beautiful place.

         23  And let me continue to say we the people, we New

         24  Yorker, and it's our Island.  I be doing a sport.

         25  We don't sell drug and we no steal.  We doing a
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          2  sport.  All these people here is because we doing a

          3  sport to keep the young generation still in shape.

          4  No get fat and watch TV at home.  We need that

          5  space.  I don't know what's going on with some

          6  people.  You get money.  You want to provide and

          7  make more money, and we, the people, the poor.  We

          8  work.  I'm sorry I can't read and write, because I

          9  got my sickness.  I got a problem with my eyes. And

         10  if everybody here while I telling you, we need the

         11  Island for the sports.  Forget about open your eyes,

         12  open your ears.  See. You are  --  you spoke with us

         13  what's going on.  It's a lot of field damage there

         14  because people don't respect to going inside with

         15  the car.  They race and go motorcycle.  We can --

         16  we need more security because after the hour, they

         17  don't watch and then the people go to drive inside

         18  the school, they destroy the field.  You see what I

         19  mean?

         20                 And this is a shame.  Because we

         21  doing the sport. We do something for the new

         22  generation for the people.  And we are here to talk

         23  to you, or say to you, please stop with  --  you can

         24  just stop the sport.  Swimming in the Riverside, and

         25  Hudson River make a competition marathon.  I don't
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          2  know.  We need that, because it's beautiful.  And

          3  I'm sick that anytime in the weekends, I'm going to

          4  the Randall's, I meet the friend, neighbors, so

          5  forth. Golf, tennis.  It's beautiful.  It's our

          6  island.  Don't you cannot stop the sport.  Please.

          7  Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          9                 MR. HODGE: Good afternoon ladies and

         10  gentlemen.  I'd like to first begin by thanking

         11  Robert Johnson for  --  Jackson  -- for his work in

         12  the CFE, helping the school system.  I'm the

         13  Principal of the Frederick Douglass Academy. Ten

         14  years ago, the Randall's Island Foundation came to

         15  District Five, and they asked the schools in

         16  District Five, would they like to participate in

         17  educational programs at the facility.  At that time,

         18  we were very concerned because we're at 149th Street

         19  and Seventh Avenue, how were we going to get down to

         20  the park?  Basically, they provided buses for our

         21  students to be able to go to the park and

         22  participate and use the facility.  As one of the

         23  original small schools in New York City, we had a

         24  lot of concerns, because our school building didn't

         25  have any facilities other than one gym.

                                                            127

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 Now over the years, because of the

          3  Randall's Island Foundation,  --  Sports Foundation

          4   --  we have been able to increase the number of

          5  sports that we offer at the school, as well as

          6  provide our students with the opportunity to play

          7  with students in the public and private schools.  So

          8  when we look at over the last ten years, we've gone

          9  from having two to three sports to now having over

         10  23 sports, with no facilities.  And the Randall's

         11  Island Sports Foundation has allowed us to use that

         12  service that provide the space, and also the bus.

         13                 When you look at the number of high

         14  schools also in the New York City area, we are

         15  expanding.  There are many, many more high schools

         16  that absolutely do not have any access to any

         17  facilities.  The smaller high schools, some don't

         18  have gyms.  Some don't have labs.  And we need to

         19  have access to using the Sports Foundation

         20  facilities.  We need the Randall's Island

         21  opportunities for the students.  And to expand it.

         22                 We've been very fortunate again, that

         23  we now offer additional sports such as lacrosse.

         24  Lacrosse is a sport that offers additional

         25  scholarship opportunities for students.  Fencing.
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          2  Soccer.  We don't have any place to play soccer, but

          3  we're fortunate enough that we do have the bus that

          4  takes us there.  So we are one of the original

          5  schools, public schools, that did benefit from the

          6  relationship with the Randall's Island Sports

          7  Foundation.  Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          9                 Our next panel, Patrick Mangan.  Is

         10  that how I say it?  Stuart Johnson.  Marsha Rimler.

         11  You're saying "finally", huh. Oh.  Russel Shuler.

         12  And we have Juan Ruiz.  Can we just pull up a chair?

         13    That's the last panel.  Juan, are you here?  Okay,

         14  come on up.  We'll get a chair for you.  Thank you.

         15  You can start.

         16                 MR. MANGAN: Good morning.  My name is

         17  Patrick Mangan.  I am a high school English teacher,

         18  and the Athletic Director at Frederick Douglass

         19  Academy, which is located on 149th Street and

         20  Seventh Avenue, which is Community Board Ten, which

         21  is in Harlem.  I have been a teacher in Harlem for

         22  20 years.  And I have seen Randall's Island go

         23  through quite a transformation.  I'm also a father

         24  with two children that use Randall's Island.  And I

         25  use it also as an individual.  I've been at

                                                            129

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  Randall's Island over the last 20 years.  Actually,

          3  a lot longer than that since I'm a New Yorker,

          4  hundreds of times.  And the improvement since

          5  Randall's Island Sports Foundation has been involved

          6  has been tremendous.

          7                 As an athletic director at the

          8  Frederick Douglass Academy over the last ten years,

          9  we have access to Randall's Island as every other

         10  public high school would also.  And we're able to

         11  have the soccer there, touch football, softball,

         12  baseball, track, at Randall's Island Sports.  At the

         13  Randall's Island facility.  But this is all through

         14  the public parks, in conjunction with Randall's

         15  Island Sports Foundation.

         16                 We have a soccer program that was

         17  denied access to the PSAL, and because of the

         18  availability at Randall's Island, we were able to

         19  have a soccer team.  We were also denied access to

         20  have a softball team at our school, and because of

         21  the field availability at Randall's Island, we were

         22  able to have a softball team.  This would not have

         23  been possible if the fields had not been renovated

         24  through the Randall's Island Sports Foundation, and

         25  all of their efforts there.
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          2                 So again, there are quite a few

          3  public high schools that have access and use

          4  Randall's Island quite frequently.  But it is

          5  difficult because of the access situation.  And a

          6  sharing plan with the New York City Parks Department

          7  would be highly recommended to look at how they

          8  share all of the fields in New York City. Thank you

          9  very much, and I really applaud all of your efforts

         10  for concerning kids and sports in New York City.

         11  Thank you very, very much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         13                 MS. RIMLER: My name is Marsha Rimler.

         14    I'm the Secretary of the Brooklyn Bridge Park

         15  Defense Fund.  I've never been to Randall's Island.

         16  And I've lived in New York City all my life.  So I

         17  don't know what that says, except that it's just a

         18  place I've always driven by.

         19                 We're here because of the Brooklyn

         20  Bridge Park, but there are so many similarities.  I

         21  think the first one is the privatizing issue.  The

         22  access issue.  I mean, both of these situations have

         23  private entities acting as public entities should.

         24  And the private sector really, to some degree, is

         25  calling some shots.  As in Brooklyn Bridge Park,
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          2  they're putting in housing. Here, a water park.  And

          3  the question is, what's going to happen to private

          4  land  --  public land, pardon me  --  as the

          5  Administration keeps making these deals?

          6                 In Brooklyn, the issue of access to

          7  the waterfront, and how is that going to be  --

          8  access to the waterfront is going to be blocked off

          9  by these private deals.  It's the same issue.

         10                 Now, I just want to finish up what

         11  Judi said in terms of our recommendations, because

         12  she didn't have the time.  We urge the City Council

         13  to support more funding for parks, and fix that

         14  budget at 1.4 percent of the annual budget, as had

         15  been dedicated for decades before the recent

         16  Administrations.  We urge the City Council to uphold

         17  the Public Trust doctrine by strengthening it with

         18  legislation that not only prevents private

         19  structures from being built up inside a park, but

         20  creates oversight with community control to prevent

         21  private interests from overtaking our public parks.

         22                 I think the private interests mean

         23  well.  But these are public functions.  And while

         24  they are providing money, they should be not making

         25  the decisions in private.
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          2                 We urge that all requests for

          3  proposals for park concessions be led by the

          4  Council, and not by appointed commissioners who are

          5  not accountable to the electorate.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          7                 Light off, mike on.  There you go.

          8                 MR. JOHNSON: Thank you.  Good

          9  afternoon.  My name is Stuart Johnson.  I'm the head

         10  of St. Bernard's School, which is a private primary

         11  school for boys on East 98th Street.  The first

         12  person to give testimony, I taught him in seventh

         13  grade, back in 1981.  Great kid.  And you've had

         14  some great people here this morning.  Some young

         15  people.

         16                 Obviously, we favor the Randall's

         17  Island proposal. And the reason I think, simply is

         18  that we think it will do a lot of good for a lot of

         19  boys and girls, and grown boys and girls, maybe in

         20  Manhattan and elsewhere.  The state of the Island

         21  was and is shameful, but the potential is

         22  tremendous.  Our schools were approached by the

         23  Foundation and asked if we could help.  We were

         24  delighted to respond.  I don't know details.  I

         25  think they did try to find other people to help with
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          2  that.  They didn't have so much luck.

          3                 But from the beginning, we've been

          4  involved in a lot of negotiations with the Sports

          5  Foundation.  A lot will continue. I'm sure.  But the

          6  one thing that we knew from the beginning, was that

          7  our usage of those prime- time fields would go down.

          8    That would decrease from 95 to 80, whatever it

          9  was.  And that was not something that was

         10  negotiable, and that was something that we all

         11  accepted.

         12                 I appreciate that you went to

         13  Nightingale, and you know very well what independent

         14  schools and children of color in those schools have

         15  had to deal with.  A long and brave road for many

         16  valiant children who were in your position.  I think

         17  things are changing.  I hope they continue to

         18  change.  And we want to make sure not just that our

         19  children have access, but that there is more access

         20  to better fields for as many children as are

         21  possible.  Not at our school, but all over the

         22  neighborhood and the City.  Thank you very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

         24                 MR. SHULER: Good afternoon.  It

         25  started out as good morning, but now good afternoon.

                                                            134

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2    My name is Russel Shuler.  I'm the Chief Executive

          3  Officer for Youth Education Through Sports.  We are

          4  a Harlem- based, Citywide agency, not- for- profit

          5  organization providing college prep services to

          6  middle school and high school student athletes

          7  throughout the City.  I'm also  --  I also live in,

          8  and work in East Harlem.  And I also serve on the

          9  Community 11 Park Committee.

         10                 We need more sports fields.  I had a

         11  prepared speech, but as I'm hearing the dialogue

         12  here today, there are a lot of things that I'm not

         13  hearing that I think I should share.  Being a part

         14  of this process, the Randall's Island Sports

         15  Foundation has been intricately working with the

         16  community to try to increase the usage of the ball

         17  fields that are on Randall's Islands to the

         18  community residents that include young people,

         19  teens, young adults, and this community as a whole.

         20  And community- based organizations.               We

         21  need state- of- the- art facilities for our young

         22  people for the community in large (sic).  The

         23  private investors that are using the facilities,

         24  they are requesting to use the park that they are

         25  permitted for now, three days, five days a week,
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          2  three hours a day, for 20 weeks of the year.

          3  Weekends and the other hours are all exclusively

          4  used by community organizations, community

          5  residents.

          6                 There's a particular need in East

          7  Harlem, Central Harlem, the South Bronx, and the

          8  neighboring Community Board Number One in Queens, to

          9  use these facilities.  I think there's a need for us

         10  to support it.  My organization, Youth Education

         11  Through Sports, we support it because in the future,

         12  the plans that are on the table being a part of the

         13  committee, I know we are making provisions that as

         14  our community organizations, the neighborhoods,

         15  youth, to increases the need to use the facilities

         16  that we will also get a larger share of what is now

         17  80  --  20 percent of the usage to increase as much

         18  as 50 percent.

         19                 So I thoroughly  --  our organization

         20    --  strongly supports this effort.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  Mr.

         22  Ruiz.  Just scoot in.  Get closer.

         23                 MR. RUIZ: Good afternoon.  My name is

         24  Juan Carlo Ruiz.  I am the Director, Site

         25  Coordinator of Community Center in the South Bronx.
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          2  For Association Tepeyai, the New York.

          3                 I work and deal with kids most of the

          4  day.  I have seen the benefits of having green areas

          5  spaces for them.  I do stress though, the need to

          6  access the Island.  Now this morning, I was  --  one

          7  of the kids sent me a text message that read, "To

          8  build a ship, you don't hurt people.  You teach them

          9  to long for the sea".  Okay?  And I mean, my concern

         10  is that the whole process --  I know there are

         11  bigger issues and questions here in play, but how do

         12  we keep accountable our results?  And the

         13  institutions.  Our government here in the City.  And

         14  how do we take into account the voices of our

         15  community?  Some of you have said that.  And I honor

         16  that and respect that.

         17                 So I am coming from the grassroots.

         18  The organizations where our kids are finding that

         19  space and are somehow trying to live out those

         20  dreams of living a healthy, productive life for this

         21  City and for this nation.

         22                 So my question  --  and I need to

         23  stress it  --  is you know, how do we can  --  how

         24  can we create processes that is going to keep people

         25  accountable.  And I think this is a really great way
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          2  of doing it.  And I thank you for that.

          3                 And I do thank the Foundation.  I

          4  mean, we've been working with Randall's Islands

          5  Foundation, and they have given us the access.  And

          6  I stress that.  We need the access.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.

          8                 Council Member Jackson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you

         10  Madam Chair.  I was just listening to these

         11  speakers, and even though, basically what they have

         12  said is echoing what many of the speakers said, but

         13  more specifically to them, and I was just curious as

         14  to their opinions  --  and I know that they agree

         15  that since the Randall's Island is a public island,

         16  that you all agree I'm sure, that all of the

         17  negotiations regarding the use of that and by whom,

         18  and percentages, should be open and transparent so

         19  everyone should be aware of it, and there should be

         20  nothing that should be secretive. Is that agreed?

         21                 And I think that everyone, from what

         22  I've been hearing, speakers talk about, everyone

         23  agrees that they want to ensure that Randall's

         24  Island, whatever happens to it, is accessible to

         25  more youth and adults, big kids like myself too.  So
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          2  that we can enjoy it and live healthier lives.

          3                 And so the question is that I do

          4  believe that people are talking about 80 percent and

          5  negotiations.  And I guess this question is really

          6  directed to the head of the independent school. The

          7  fields are going to be increased from the number

          8  that exists now.  That's my understanding.  And so

          9  as a result of that, the percentage of use of the

         10  private schools is going to go down from 95 percent

         11  exclusivity to  --  by permit  --  to approximately

         12  80 percent.  But if the numbers have increased, I'm

         13  sure that the use could be less than that, based on

         14  the current needs, or the projections for needs of

         15  growing needs in the future.  So you would --  I'm

         16  asking you, in your opinion, if you could share

         17  that, you would agree that negotiations could take

         18  place where the percentage of use for the after

         19  schools at those fields by the private schools and

         20  independent schools could be less.  Is that correct?

         21                 MR. HODGE: Could those negotiations

         22  take place?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.  I mean

         24  that the use -  the percentage that they're throwing

         25  out now, which was 80 percent, could be less, and
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          2  fulfill the needs of the private independent

          3  schools, considering the fact that the fields are

          4  going to be increased to I think the Sports  --

          5  Randall's Island Sports Foundation said 63.  The

          6  Borough President, Scott Stringer said 65. But 63 or

          7  65 is way more than that's in use right now.  You

          8  would agree that the percentage that's being

          9  discussed as far as 80 percent exclusive use, if in

         10  fact an agreement is reached on exclusivity, could

         11  be much less than that.

         12                 MR. HODGE: I'm sure you can

         13  negotiate.  How much less I'm not sure sir.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well  --  I'm

         15  sorry.  Did you have a comment sir?

         16                 MR. SHULER: Yes.  I'd like to make a

         17  comment. Because I'm a part of that process that

         18  we're negotiating.  Our resolution at Community

         19  Board 11 Parks Committee, that's one of our

         20  stipulations, that right now, as we understand it,

         21  the community schools, the middle schools, the high

         22  schools, community organizations, community- based

         23  organizations, and even other community groups that

         24  don't have access to the park, as of now, is based

         25  on we don't participate as much, because we don't
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          2  have access to it.  We also need additional

          3  resources.  These are organized sports.  We are not

          4  talking about one on one play.  We're talking about

          5  baseball.  We're talking about softball.  We're

          6  talking about --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: All of the

          8  sports that  --

          9                 MR. SHULER: All of the sports that

         10  requires a field. If we had  --  as our demand for

         11  usage of those spaces, and our negotiations with

         12  this group, as our demand increases, so does our

         13  access and percentages of the fields that are being

         14  produced. There will be additional fields.  We're

         15  not talking about what exists now.  What's existing

         16  in the future coupled with it.  So the 65 ball

         17  fields, we will have more than 20 percent as our

         18  demonstrated demand and interest in acquiring that

         19  space will be there.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well I just

         21  asked all of you all to keep an open mind, and let's

         22  think positive, and let's think consider the goal

         23  that we're trying to achieve here.  And hopefully,

         24  with the elected officials that represent the area

         25  under the leadership of Melissa Mark- Viverito, and
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          2  others, will bring about a resolution that we all

          3  can stand together.  Thank you very much.  Thank you

          4  Madam Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON FOSTER: Thank you.  Thank

          6  you to this panel.  Let me close by thanking

          7  everyone for staying of course. The rep from

          8  Administration and the Parks Department, for

          9  listening to the testimony.  Of course, to Randall's

         10  Island, for sitting through the whole hearing, and

         11  hearing what the concerns are from the community.

         12  And I think, if nothing else, we can see there's

         13  still some issues that very much need to be worked

         14  out so that, at the end of the day, we're not going

         15  to make everyone happy, but hopefully, we can have a

         16  win/win situation for all of the kids and the

         17  residents of New York City.  So again, thank you for

         18  your patience.  It's been long.  Thank you to

         19  Council Member Mark Lewis and Mark- Viverito for her

         20  leadership.  And this meeting is adjourned.

         21                 (Hearing concluded at 12:46 p.m.)

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            142

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, JOAN GARCIA, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 3rd day of November 2006.

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          JOAN GARCIA

                                                            143

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, JOAN GARCIA, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              JOAN GARCIA

         23

         24

         25

